
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents firstPutting our residents first

Putting our residents first

CABINET
Date: THURSDAY, 12 MARCH 

2020

Time: 7.00 PM

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Media are welcome to attend 
this meeting and observe the 
public business discussed.

This meeting will also be 
broadcast live on the 
Council’s YouTube Channel.

To all Members of the Cabinet:

Ray Puddifoot MBE (Chairman)
Leader of the Council

Jonathan Bianco (Vice-Chairman)
Deputy Leader / Finance, Property & Business 
Services

Susan O’Brien 
Education, Children and Youth Services 

Keith Burrows
Planning and Transportation 

Jane Palmer 
Social Care, Health & Wellbeing 

Philip Corthorne
Housing and the Environment 

Douglas Mills
Community, Commerce & Regeneration

Richard Lewis
Central Services, Culture & Heritage

Published: 
Wednesday, 4 March 2020

You can view the agenda 
at www.hillingdon.gov.uk or use a smart 
phone camera and scan the code below:

Contact:
Mark Braddock
Tel: 01895 250470
Email: mbraddock@hillingdon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Useful information for 
residents and visitors
Watching & recording this meeting

You can watch the public part of this meeting on 
the Council's YouTube channel, live or archived 
after the meeting. Residents and the media are 
also welcome to attend in person, and if they 
wish, report on the public part of the meeting. 
Any individual or organisation may record or film 
proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. 

It is recommended to give advance notice of filming to ensure any particular requirements can be 
met. The Council will provide seating areas for residents/public, high speed WiFi access to all 
attending and an area for the media to report. The officer shown on the front of this agenda should 
be contacted for further information and will be available to assist. When present in the room, silent 
mode should be enabled for all mobile devices.

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services. 

Please enter via main reception and visit the 
security desk to sign-in and collect a visitors 
pass. You will then be directed to the Committee 
Room.

Accessibility

For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use. 

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous 
alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre 
forecourt. 

Lifts must not be used unless instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer. In the event of 
a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire Marshal or a Security 
Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their way to the signed refuge 
locations.



Notice
Notice of meeting and any private business

The London Borough of Hillingdon is a modern, transparent Council and through effective Cabinet 
governance, it seeks to ensure the decisions it takes are done so in public as far as possible. Much 
of the business on the agenda for this Cabinet meeting will be open to residents, the wider public 
and media to attend. However, there will be some business to be considered that contains, for 
example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. Such business is shown in 
Part 2 of the agenda and is considered in private. Further information on why this is the case can 
be sought from Democratic Services.

This is formal notice under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 to confirm that the Cabinet meeting to be held on:

12 March 2020 at 7pm in Committee Room 6, Civic Centre, Uxbridge

will be held partly in private and that 28 clear days public notice of this meeting has been given. 
The reason for this is because the private (Part 2) reports listed on the agenda for the meeting will 
contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing it. An online and a hard copy notice at the Civic Centre in Uxbridge indicates a number 
associated with each report with the reason why a particular decision will be taken in private under 
the categories set out below:

(1) information relating to any individual
(2) information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
(3) information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 

the authority holding that information)
(4) information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 

negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the authority or 
a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.

(5) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings.

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes  (a) to give under any enactment a 
notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or (b) to make an 
order or direction under any enactment.

(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime.

Notice of any urgent business

To ensure greater transparency in decision-making, 28 clear days public notice of the decisions to 
be made both in public and private has been given for these agenda items. Any exceptions to this 
rule are the urgent business items on the agenda marked *. For such items it was impracticable to 
give sufficient notice for a variety of business and service reasons. The Chairman of the Executive 
Scrutiny Committee has been notified in writing about such urgent business.

Notice of any representations received
No representations from the public have been received regarding this meeting.

Date notice issued and of agenda publication

4 March 2020
London Borough of Hillingdon



Agenda

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Interest in matters before this meeting

3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting 1 - 10

4 To confirm that the items of business marked Part 1 will be 
considered in public and that the items of business marked Part 2 in 
private

Cabinet Reports - Part 1 (Public)

5 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report: Month 10 (Cllr Jonathan 
Bianco)

11 - 56

6 Quarterly Planning Obligations Monitoring Report (Cllr Keith Burrows) 57 - 62



Cabinet Reports - Part 2 (Private and Not for Publication)

7 Contract Award: CCTV Service, Maintenance, Repair & Upgrades 
(Cllr Douglas Mills)

63 - 72

8 Contract Award: Servicing, Gas Safety Checks and Maintenance of 
the Council's Domestic 'in-dwelling' Housing Properties (Cllr Jonathan 
Bianco)

73 - 82

9 Contract Award: Homecare, Outreach, Extra Care and Specialist 
Support Services for Adults (Cllr Jane Palmer)

83 - 96

10 Contract Award: Semi Independent Living Services for Young People 
(Cllr Susan O'Brien)

97 - 102

11 Contract extension: Community Equipment Service for Residents        
(Cllr Jane Palmer )

103 - 108

12 Property Transactions: Disposal of Garage Sites adjacent to 1 
Evelyns Close, Yiewsley and Rear of Vernon Drive, Harefield        
(Cllr Jonathan Bianco)

109 - 118

The reports listed above in Part 2 are not made public because they contains exempt 
information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing it.

13 Any other items the Chairman agrees are relevant or urgent



This page is intentionally left blank



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 1 -

Minutes

CABINET
Thursday, 13 February 2020
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge

Published on: 14 February 2020
Decisions come into effect from: Friday 21 February 2020 *

Cabinet Members Present: 
Ray Puddifoot MBE (Chairman)
Jonathan Bianco (Vice-Chairman)
Philip Corthorne
Douglas Mills
Keith Burrows
Richard Lewis
Susan O'Brien
Jane Palmer
Duncan Flynn (Ex-Officio Member of the Cabinet)

Members also Present:
Nick Denys
Simon Arnold
Henry Higgins
John Riley
Wayne Bridges
Richard Mills
Peter Money
Stuart Mathers
Peter Curling

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

All Cabinet Members were present.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS BEFORE THIS MEETING

No interests were declared by Members present.

3. TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST CABINET MEETING

The decisions and minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 January 2020 were 
agreed as a correct record.

4. TO CONFIRM THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED PART 1 WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC AND THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED 
PART 2 IN PRIVATE

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 2 -

It was confirmed that the items marked Part 1 would be considered in public and the 
items marked Part 2 in private.

5. MONTHLY COUNCIL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT: MONTH 9

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:

1. Note the budget position as at December 2019 (Month 9) as outlined in 
Table 1.

2. Note the Treasury Management update as at December 2019 at Appendix E.
3. Continue the delegated authority up until the March 2019 Cabinet meeting 

to the Chief Executive to approve any consultancy and agency 
assignments over £50k, with final sign-off of any assignments made by the 
Leader of the Council. Cabinet are also asked to note those consultancy 
and agency assignments over £50k approved under delegated authority 
between the 23 January 2019 and 13 February 2019 Cabinet meetings, 
detailed at Appendix F.

4. Approve acceptance of gift funding in relation to a Planning Performance 
Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 93 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 for;

a. Land at Bulls Bridge Estate - £40k. 
b. Land at Guru Nanak School, Springfield Road, Hayes - £32k.
c. Marriott Hotel, Heathrow - £23k.
d. Land South of Ballinger Way & East of Broadmead Road, Northolt - 

£32k.
e. 1 Vinyl Square - £15k.
f. 42 & 44 Mahlon Avenue - £10k.

Reasons for decision
 
Cabinet was informed of the latest forecast revenue, capital and treasury position for 
the current year 2019/20 to ensure the Council achieved its budgetary and service 
objectives. Additionally, Cabinet reviewed recent consultancy and agency 
assignments and accepted gift funding in respect of planned key developments in 
the Borough in order to fund dedicated staff to support pre-application and 
application work.  

Alternative options considered and rejected
 
None.
 
Officer to action:
 
Paul Whaymand, Finance

Classification: Public
 
The report and any background papers relating to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view 
on the Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge.

Page 2



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 3 -

6. THE COUNCIL'S BUDGET: MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL FORECAST 2020/21-
2024/25

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet approves for recommendation to Council:

1) The General Fund and Housing Revenue Account budgets and Capital 
Programmes, along with proposed amendments to Fees & Charges as 
outlined in appendices 1 to 10, and having taken the consultation 
responses outlined in Appendix 16 conscientiously into account;

2) The proposals for continuing the Council Tax Older People’s Discount 
into 2020/21, having due regard to the completed Equalities and Human 
Rights Impact Assessment at Appendix 14;

3) The Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy, and Minimum Revenue Provision Statement for 
2020/21 to 2024/25 as detailed at Appendix 12 for implementation with 
effect from 1 March 2020;

4) The proposed London Borough of Hillingdon Pay Policy Statement for 
2020/21 set out at Appendix 13;

5) That it resolves that Cabinet may utilise the general reserves or 
balances during 2020/21 in respect of those functions which have been 
reserved to the Cabinet in Article 7 of the Constitution (as set out in 
Schedule G of the Constitution - Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules).

That Cabinet notes:

6) The Corporate Director of Finance's comments regarding his 
responsibilities under the Local Government Act 2003.

Reasons for decision
 
Following consideration of the consultation, feedback from residents and Policy 
Overview Committee comments, Cabinet recommended its budget proposals to the 
Council meeting on 20 February 2020 for final consideration. 

Cabinet noted that its budget proposals for 2020/21 included a 3.8% increase in the 
headline rate of Council Tax which comprised a core Council Tax increase of 1.8% 
based on 90% of the 2% anticipated increase across London, alongside a 2% 
increase relating to an Adult Social Care Precept to fund ongoing pressures within 
Adult Social Care.

Page 3



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 4 -

Cabinet welcomed that the budget proposals included protection for the over 65’s 
through a continuation of the Older Person’s Council Tax Discount for the fourteenth 
successive year.

Cabinet welcomed the additional investment in front-line services, including more 
Anti-Social Behaviour and Environment Team Officers to tackle local issues. 

Also supported by Cabinet, was the substantial capital programme, providing both 
small and major infrastructure improvements over the next few years, including 
schools, the proposal to purchase Uxbridge Police station, a new leisure centre in 
the West Drayton and funding to upgrade highways.

However, Cabinet was concerned about proposals from the Mayor of London to 
reduce the number of Police Officers locally, as part of the matched funding tasking 
teams focussed on residents’ community safety priorities.

Having considered its proposals, Cabinet recommended to Council a strong, 
balanced budget, which had been carefully developed to put residents first. 

Alternative options considered and rejected

The Cabinet could have chosen to vary the proposals in its budget before 
recommending it to Council on 20 February 2020.
 
Officers to action:
 
Paul Whaymand, Finance

Classification: Public
 
The report and any background papers relating to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view 
on the Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge.

7. THE SCHOOLS BUDGET 2020/21

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:

1. Agrees that the total Schools Budget for 2020/21 be set with an overall 
deficit of £7,175k when compared to the total of the Dedicated Schools 
Grant provided to the Council (as set out in paragraphs 63 to 65), 
following the rejection of the Council’s disapplication request by the 
DfE. 

2. Approve the Primary and Secondary schools funding formula as agreed 
by schools and the Schools Forum, as set out in paragraphs 27 to 31.

3. Approve the Early Years Single Funding Formula, as set out in 
paragraphs 32 to 41.

4. Approve the base rate of funding for the Two Year Old Free Entitlement 
Offer, as set out in paragraph 42.

Page 4



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 5 -

5. Approve the Early Years Centrally Retained budget as agreed by the 
Schools Forum, as set out in paragraphs 43 to 47.

6. Approve the Central School Services budget as agreed by the Schools 
Forum, as set out in paragraphs 48 to 53.

7. Approve the High Needs budget as agreed by the Schools Forum, as set 
out in paragraphs 54 to 62.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet noted the responsibility of the Schools Forum in managing the education 
budget and approved their recommendations following their consultation with School 
Headteachers, Governors and Early Years providers on the distribution of the 
funding arrangements for schools for 2020/21. 

Cabinet noted that the Council’s disapplication request to the Department for 
Education had not been approved which would have enabled a balanced budget 
within the Dedicated Schools Budget to deal with the growing deficit largely caused 
by the increase in spending for high needs.

Cabinet noted that such deficits within local Dedicated Schools Budgets was a 
national issue that would, at some point soon, need to be addressed by the 
Government.

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided to recommend that the Schools Forum reconsider the 
proposed funding for schools.

Officers to action:

Peter Malewicz / Graham Young - Finance

Classification: Public
 
The report and any background papers relating to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view 
on the Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge.

8. PROCUREMENT OF LIBRARY BOOKS AND AUDIOVISUAL SUPPLY FOR THE 
BOROUGH'S LIBRARIES

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet: 

1. Agrees to award the contract to the Central Buying Consortium (CBC) 
for the Provision of Library Books and Audio Visual Equipment to the 
London Borough of Hillingdon for a Two Year period at the value of 
£600,734 (annual cost £300,367)

Page 5



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 6 -

2. Furthermore, this includes the provision to extend the contract for a 
further two year period (4 years in total), subject to the approval of the 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Central Service, Culture 
and Heritage, in consultation with the Deputy Chief Executive and 
Corporate Director of Residents Services.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet agreed to sign up to the Central Buying Consortium for a value-for money 
contract to supply ‘shelf ready’ books and audiovisual materials for all libraries to the 
benefit of residents. 

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided to purchase through ad hoc arrangements or through 
online retailers, but noted that this would not have provided an efficient or cost 
effective way to procure such a range of products. 

Officers to action:

Paul Richards – Residents Services
James Patterson – Finance

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it in accordance with Section 100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

9. POSTAL SERVICES PROCUREMENT

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet:

1. Agrees for the London Borough of Hillingdon to enter into a pan-London 
agreement utilising the Crown Commercial Services Postal Goods and 
Services Framework Agreement (RM6017) led by the London boroughs 
of Enfield and Camden for the provision of postal services and;

2. Delegates authority to the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, Property and Business Services, in conjunction 
with the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents 
Services, to authorise the recommended tender on behalf of the 
Council, following the outcome of the procurement process.

Page 6



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 7 -

Reasons for decision

Cabinet agreed to enter into a procurement partnership to undertake a pan-London 
procurement exercise and recommend a supplier to provide value-for-money postal 
services for individual councils. 

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have continued with its current contractual arrangements and not 
have sought to explore a consortium approach that would potentially bring savings.

Officer to action:

Tracey Taylor, Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it in accordance with Section 100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

10. PASSENGER TRANSPORT MANAGED SERVICE

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet: 

1. Accept the tender from Edge Public Solutions for the provision of 
Managed Passenger Transport Service to the London Borough of 
Hillingdon for a three year period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023 and 
at the value of £525,000;

2. Furthermore, agree that this includes the provision to extend the 
contract for a two year period (1+1), subject to the approval of the 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members for Education, Children and 
Youth Services & Community, Commerce and Regeneration, in 
consultation with the Corporate Director of Social Care.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet agreed to operate the passenger transport function as a managed service 
which would enable the Council to have a structure in place providing the required 
expertise and oversight to ensure eligible residents received a high quality effective 
and efficient service.

Page 7



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 8 -

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided to continue operating the service in-house, but 
considered it was not a viable option to meet the service requirements of residents.

Officer to action:

Sandra Taylor, Social Care

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority and that the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighed the public interest in disclosing it in accordance with Section 100(A) and paragraph 4 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

11. CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR PROVISION OF MANAGED SERVICE SUPPLY 
OF AGENCY WORKERS

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet: 

1. Agree a one-year extension to the current contract with Guidant Global 
for the continued provision of a Managed Service to supply agency 
workers.

2. Agree a contract variation to remove the category of Qualified Social 
Workers from the Guidant Global contract.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet agreed to the extension of the current managed service agency contract to 
maintain access to a wide supply chain of temporary workers whilst officers 
undertook an extensive review of alternative supply models and approaches to 
reduce reliance on the demand for agency workers.

Cabinet also agreed a contract variation with the provider, in recognition of a 
different contract awarded during 2019 for the provision of Qualified Social Workers.

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided not to use a managed service to provide agency staff, 
but agreed that this would result in a high administrative burden across services who 
would instead have to deal directly with employment agencies. 

Page 8



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 9 -

Officers to action:

Mike Talbot – Chief Executive’s Office

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it in accordance with Section 100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)

12. VOLUNTARY SECTOR LEASE

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet delegate to the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance, Property and Business Services, in consultation with the Deputy 
Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents Services, a decision on 
the rent and lease terms for the voluntary sector organisation detailed in the 
report.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet reviewed a report on a voluntary sector lease and considered further 
information was required on the matter. Cabinet, therefore, decided to delegate its 
decision in respect of the organisation concerned, to enable such clarification to be 
sought expediently.

Alternative options considered and rejected

None.

Officer to action:

Michele Wilcox / Mike Paterson; Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it in accordance with Section 100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIRMAN AGREES ARE RELEVANT OR URGENT

No additional items were considered by the Cabinet.
 

Page 9



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 10 -

The meeting closed at 7.22pm.

 
*Internal Use only - implementation of decisions
 
Decisions that take immediate effect: Cabinet's decisions on Item 6 related to the 
Cabinet’s budget proposals and these decisions took immediate effect in order to be 
recommended to Council on 20 February 2020 to set a balanced budget. 

All other decisions: Meeting after Cabinet, the Executive Scrutiny Committee did 
not call-in any of the remaining Cabinet’s decisions. Therefore, these decisions can 
be implemented by officers upon the expiry of the scrutiny call-in period which is 
from:

5pm, Friday 21 February 2020.
 

Officers to action the decisions are indicated in the minutes.
 
 
The public part of this meeting was broadcast on the Council’s YouTube channel 
here. Please note that these minutes and decisions are the definitive record of 
proceedings by the Council of this meeting.

If you would like further information about the decisions of the Cabinet, please 
contact the Council below:

democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk
Democratic Services: 01895 250636
Media enquiries: 01895 250403
 
To find out more about how the Cabinet works to put residents first, visit here.

Page 10

https://www.youtube.com/user/HillingdonLondon
mailto:democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk
http://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=115


Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

COUNCIL BUDGET – 
2019/20 REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONTH 10 BUDGET MONITORING

Cabinet Member Councillor Jonathan Bianco

Cabinet Portfolio Finance, Property and Business Services

Report Author Paul Whaymand, Corporate Director of Finance

Papers with report Appendices A - F

HEADLINE INFORMATION

Purpose of report This report provides the Council's forecast financial position and 
performance against the 2019/20 revenue budget and Capital 
Programme.

A net in-year underspend of £1,769k is reported against 2019/20 
General Fund revenue budgets as of January 2019 (Month 10), 
representing an improvement of £96k on the position reported to 
Cabinet at Month 9. Unallocated reserves are projected to total 
£34,337k at 31 March 2020.

The latest positions on other funds and the Capital Programme are 
detailed within the body of this report.

Contribution to our 
plans and strategies

Putting our Residents First: Financial Management

Achieving Value for Money is an important element of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.

Financial Cost N/A

Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee

Corporate Services, Commerce and Communities 

Ward(s) affected All

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Cabinet:

1. Note the budget position as at January 2019 (Month 10) as outlined in Table 1.
2. Note the Treasury Management update as at January 2020 at Appendix E.
3. Continue the delegated authority up until the March 2020 Cabinet meeting to the Chief 

Executive to approve any consultancy and agency assignments over £50k, with final 
sign-off of any assignments made by the Leader of the Council. Cabinet are also asked 
to note those consultancy and agency assignments over £50k approved under delegated 
authority between the 13 February 2020 and 12 March 2020 Cabinet meetings, detailed at 
Appendix F.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

4. Agree to the appropriation of land at the former Great Benty garage site from the General 
Fund to the Housing Revenue Account to be developed as general needs housing.

5. Approve a virement of £55k from the General Fund capital contingency budget to the ICT 
Equipment capitalisation budget for the purchase of 20 electronic point of sale (EPOS) 
tills at libraries throughout the Borough.

6. Accepts the Environment Agency Grant of £25k for the implementation of minor flood 
alleviation measures at Pinn Meadows, Ruislip.

7. Confirm that the following Fees and Charges for services at Breakspear Crematorium 
are to be implemented for all service users with effect from 1 April 2020:

a. Scattering of Ashes: £57
b. Trees & Shrubs – Rose Trees including five year lease:£352
c. Trees & Shrubs – Ornamental Shrubs including ten year lease £433
d. Memorial Cards – 2 line entry: £47
e. Memorial Cards – 5 line entry: £68

8. Approve acceptance of gift funding in relation to a Planning Performance Agreement in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 for B&M 
Yiewsley (£47,900).

INFORMATION

Reasons for Recommendations

1. The reason for Recommendation 1 is to ensure that the Council achieves its budgetary 
objectives, providing Cabinet with an update on performance at Month 10 against budgets 
approved by Council on 21 February 2020. An update on the Council's Treasury Management 
activities is signposted in Recommendation 2.

2. Recommendation 3 is intended to enable continued delegation of approval for appointment 
of consultancy and agency appointments over £50k to the Chief Executive, with final sign-off 
from the Leader of the Council.  In addition, Appendix F reports back on use of this delegated 
authority previously granted by Cabinet.

3. Recommendation 4 The redevelopment of the former garage site at Great Benty, West 
Drayton is included in the approved HRA capital programme to provide 2 x 2 bedroom semi-
detached bungalows.  Planning consent for the residential development was obtained earlier 
this year.   The appropriation to the HRA will increase the supply of affordable housing and 
bring the site back into use representing value for money for both the General Fund and the 
HRA.  The appropriation will be accounted for as a notional capital receipt at market value.  
The estimated land value of £276k, based on the proposed residential development within the 
HRA, is budgeted within the overall HRA capital programme.

4. Recommendation 5 The purchase of 20 EPOS tills at various libraries throughout the Borough 
will provide residents with the option to make cashless payments and supports the wider 
libraries refurbishment programme.  It is recommended to fund the purchase costs of £55k from 
the currently unallocated general contingency budget of £1,500k, as there is insufficient 
remaining funding in the ICT equipment budget approaching the end of the financial year.

5. Recommendation 6 Accepts the Environment Agency Grant of £25k for the implementation 
of minor flood alleviation measures at Pinn Meadows, Ruislip. 

6. Recommendation 7 clarifies the level of Fees and Charges for Breakspear Crematorium.  The 
level of charges set out in the recommendation reflect the outcome of a benchmarking exercise 
against nearest neighbours, with charges limited to 90% of this comparator group. The 

Page 12



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

proposed charges were correctly stated in the December 2019 consultation budget report but 
the figures were incorrectly stated in the February 2020 Cabinet draft report. 

7. Gift funding has been offered by developers which if accepted by Cabinet will be utilised to fund 
dedicated staff to support this pre-application and application work.  Recommendation 8 seeks 
authority from Cabinet to approve the acceptance of £48k, in relation to a major development 
on the site of B&M Yiewsley.

Alternative options considered

8. There are no other options proposed for consideration.

Page 13



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

SUMMARY

REVENUE

9. General Fund revenue budgets are projected to underspend by £1,769k at Month 10, an 
improvement of £96k on the position reported at Month 10. This position consists of a £452k 
underspend against Directorate Operating Budgets, with a £704k underspend on Development 
and Risk Contingency and £613k variances across other corporately managed budgets 
including reduced borrowing costs from deferred capital expenditure and windfall credits from 
a review of the balance sheet.  There remains £250k uncommitted General Contingency within 
the reported monitoring position to manage any emerging risks over the remainder of this 
financial year.

10. The position across service budgets reflects a small number of reported pressure items being 
offset through compensating underspends, primarily on staffing budgets.  These pressure 
areas include ICT contract expenditure, Education functions, Early Years Centres and income 
from health partners to support Adult Social Care placements.  Within Development and Risk 
Contingency, the previously reported pressure on Homelessness has reduced with further 
improvements on Asylum and Looked after Children.  There have been additional calls on 
contingency in Month 10 in relation to Housing Legal Challenges. 

11. General Fund Balances are expected to total £34,337k at 31 March 2020, under the 
assumption that the balance of General Contingency and Unallocated Priority Growth monies 
are released in-year. This is a reduction of £6,007k from the opening balance of £40,344k, an 
improvement on the planned release of £7,776k from reserves to support the 2019/20 budget.

12. Of the £8,141k savings being managed in year, £7,891k are either banked in full or classed as 
'on track for delivery', while £250k classified as either higher risk or in the early stages of 
delivery. Within the position reported, £659k has moved in Month 10 from on track to being 
banked and £620k has moved from an early stage of delivery. Ultimately, all £8,141k of the 
savings are expected to be delivered in full, with any items with potential issues being covered 
by alternative in-year savings proposals and management actions.

13. A surplus of £440k is reported within the Collection Fund relating to favourable positions on 
both Council Tax and Business Rates, which are predominantly driven by a carry forward 
surplus from 2018/19.  This surplus will be available to support General Fund budgets in future 
years.

14. The Dedicated Schools Grant is projecting an in-year overspend of £5,349k at Month 10, a 
£189k adverse movement from Month 9. The overspend is predominantly due to continuing 
unfunded pressures in the cost of High Needs, and results in a forecast carry forward 
cumulative deficit at 31 March 2020 of £13,841k.

CAPITAL

15. At Month 10 the projected underspend against the 2019/20 General Fund Capital Programme 
is £23,560k, predominantly as a result of rephasing of project expenditure.  The forecast outturn 
over the life of the programme to 2023/24 is an overspend of £313k. The planned investment 
will require £223,968k Prudential Borrowing, £1,103k lower than originally in February 2019 
and in line with the position approved by Cabinet and Council at budget setting in February 
2020. This position is not expected to materially affect the revenue financing charges ultimately 
required to support planned investment. 

Page 14



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

FURTHER INFORMATION

General Fund Revenue Budget

16. An underspend of £1,769k is reported across normal operating activities at Month 10, an 
improvement of £96k on Month 9, which is primarily linked to an improvement in Directorate 
Operating budgets of £83k.  There remain recurrent pressures relating to Early Years Centres, 
Education and ICT, which are offset primarily by staffing underspends to deliver a net £452k 
underspend on Directorate Operating Budgets.

17. Development Risk and Contingency is currently benefitting from three windfall income streams, 
consisting of additional Better Care Fund monies, Asylum Grant funding and a rebate from the 
West London Waste Authority, which are mitigating pressures on specific contingencies of 
£1,137k on SEN Transport, £750k on Adult Social Care placements, £475k Housing Legal 
Challenges and £571k on Development Control income.  

18. Savings of £8,141k are being managed within the 2019/20 budget. Currently £7,357k savings 
are banked, delivery is currently on track against £534k of savings, and £250k are either in the 
early stages of delivery or deemed higher risk although all savings are expected to ultimately 
be delivered in full.  This represents an improvement on the position at Month 9, with £659k 
being promoted from on track to being banked, and £620k moving from early stage of delivery.

Table 1: General Fund Overview
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

210,620 2,138 Directorate Operating 
Budgets 212,758 212,306 (452) (369) (83)

7,436 0 Corporate Operating 
Budgets 7,436 6,825 (611) (606) (5)

12,863 (2,789) Development & Risk 
Contingency 10,074 9,370 (704) (694) (8)

(991) 651 Unallocated Budget 
Items (340) (340) 0 0 0

229,928 0 Sub-total Normal 
Activities 229,928 228,161 (1,767) (1,669) (96)

(222,152) 0 Corporate Funding (222,152) (222,154) (2) (2) 0

7,776 0 Net Total 7,776 6,007 (1,769) (1,671) (96)

(40,344) 0 Balances b/fwd (40,344) (40,344)    

(32,568) 0 Balances c/fwd 31 
March 2020 (32,568) (34,337)    

19. General Fund Balances are expected to total £34,337k at 31 March 2020 as a result of the 
forecast position detailed above, £2,673k higher than projected at budget setting in February 
2019. The Council's Medium Term Financial Forecast assumes that unallocated balances will 
remain between £15,000k and £32,000k to manage emergent risks, with any sums above that 
level earmarked for use to smooth the savings requirement over the medium term.

Directorate Operating Budgets

20. Directorate Operating Budgets represent the majority of the Council’s investment in day-to-day 
services for residents, with more volatile or demand-led areas of activity tracked separately 

Page 15



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

through the Development and Risk Contingency. Further information on latest projections for 
each service is contained within Appendix A to this report, with salient risks and variances 
within this position summarised in the following paragraphs.

Table 2: Directorate Operating Budgets
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
8,110 0 Expenditure 8,110 8,128 18 18 0

(1,207) (1) Income (1,208) (1,222) (14) (14) 0

6,903 (1) C
hi

ef
 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e'
s 

O
ffi

ce

Sub-Total 6,902 6,906 4 4 0

19,069 56 Expenditure 19,125 19,224 99 107 (8)
(3,221) (175) Income (3,396) (3,558) (162) (159) (3)

15,848 (119) Fi
na

nc
e

Sub-Total 15,729 15,666 (63) (52) (11)

116,482 2,149 Expenditure 118,631 118,784 153 218 (65)
(43,966) (1,313) Income (45,279) (45,441) (162) (156) (6)

72,516 836 R
es

id
en

ts
 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Sub-Total 73,352 73,343 (9) 62 (71)

148,761 668 Expenditure 149,429 150,102 673 72 601
(33,408) 754 Income (32,654) (33,711) (1,057) (455) (602)

115,353 1,422

S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e

Sub-Total 116,775 116,391 (384) (383) (1)

210,620 2,138 Total Directorate 
Operating Budgets 212,758 212,306 (452) (369) (83)

21. An overspend of £4k is reported on Chief Executive’s Office budgets at Month 10, representing 
no change from Month 9.  Across Finance, a net underspend of £63k is projected on the Month 
10 a favourable movement of 11k on the previously reported position, reflecting a combination 
of vacancies and use of grant funding to support additional staff.

22. At Month 10, a net underspend of £9k is reported across Residents Services, representing an 
£71k favourable movement from Month 9 as a result of increased staffing underspends.  The 
headline position includes a £416k pressure on ICT contract costs, £295k pressures across 
Education functions, which are partially offset through a combination of staffing underspends 
and other favourable variances.  In addition, £310k is being released from Earmarked Reserves 
to support current levels of investment in waste services.

23. A net underspend of £384k is reported across Social Care budgets, with a favourable 
movement of £1k on Month 9 forecasts. There are a number of variances in the position 
including pressures relating to delays in securing additional health contributions towards 
placements meeting both social care and health needs, alongside the deficit on Early Years 
Centres transferred from the schools budget.  These are being offset through additional 
Troubled Families Grant, settlement of a long running case in the Council’s favour and more 
efficient use of the Better Care Fund.

24. The Council is permitted to finance the costs associated with service transformation from 
Capital Receipts, with both one-off implementation costs and the support for service 
transformation, including the BID team, being funded from this resource.  Current projections 
include an estimate of £2,580k for such costs, which will remain under review over the 
remainder of the year and have been excluded from reported monitoring positions. It is 

Page 16



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

anticipated that these costs will be financed from a combination of Capital Receipts and 
Earmarked Reserves.

Progress on Savings

25. The savings requirement for 2019/20 is £6,609k. In addition, there are savings of £700k brought 
forward from 2018/19 giving an net total of £7,309k. Within this position there are £832k of 
funding requirements, covering Troubled Families, Fleet and Parking Services. For reporting 
from Month 4 onwards the savings have been adjusted to remove the £832k of funding 
requirements, giving a restated gross savings target of £8,141k with the aim of improving the 
transparency on the progress of savings delivery.  

26. Of this sum, £7,357k are banked, with a further £534k on track for delivery in full during 
2019/20. £250k savings are in the early stages of delivery or potentially subject to greater risk 
to delivery; however, ultimately all £8,141k savings are expected to be delivered in full, with 
any items with potential issues being covered by alternative in-year savings proposals and 
management actions.  This represents an improvement on the position at Month 9, with £659k 
being promoted from on track to being banked, and £620k moving from early stage of delivery.

Table 3: Savings Tracker

CEOs Finance Residents 
Services

Social 
Care

Cross-
Cutting

Total 2019/20 
Savings2019/20 General Fund 

Savings Programme
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

B Banked (387) (651) (1,601) (2,663) (2,055) (7,357) 90.4%

G On track for 
delivery 0 (79) (95) (260) (100) (534) 6.6%

A

Potential significant 
savings shortfall or 
a significant or 
risky project which 
is at an early 
stage;

0 0 0 0 (250) (250) 3.1%

R
Serious problems 
in the delivery of 
the saving

0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0%

Total 2019/20 Savings (387) (730) (1,696) (2,923) (2,405) (8,141) 100.0%

Corporate Operating Budgets

27. Corporate Operating Budgets are currently forecasting a £611k favourable variance, which is 
a favourable movement of £5k on the Month 9 position with the Housing Benefit Subsidy 
continuing to be forecast to budget. In addition to the favourable position on Corporate 
Operating Budget, Corporate Funding has a £2k favourable variance. Included in this report 
are updates to the unallocated growth, inflation and savings budgets.

28. As a result of anticipated capital expenditure and associated borrowing being slipped from 
2018/19, alongside proactive use of capital grants and alternative funding, a £288k underspend 
is reported on the revenue costs of debt financing.  An ongoing review of the Council’s balance 
sheet has identified up to £357k of historic credit balances, which are expected to be written 
on during 2019/20, delivering a one-off windfall underspend.  Housing Benefit remains on 
budget with no variance being reported. No material variances are reported across the 
remainder of Corporate Budgets, resulting in a headline underspend of £600k.

Page 17



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Table 4: Corporate Operating Budgets
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
0 0 Salaries 0 0 0 0 0

7,777 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 7,777 7,489 (288) (288) 0

(87) 0 Income (87) (47) 40 40 0
7,690 0 In

te
re

st
 a

nd
 

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

In
co

m
e

Sub-Total 7,690 7,442 (248) (248) 0
490 0 Salaries 490 492 2 2 0

12,570 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 12,570 12,562 (8) (3) (5)

(12,289) 0 Income (12,289) (12,646) (357) (357) 0
771 0 Le

vi
es

 a
nd

 
O

th
er

 
C

or
po

ra
te

 
B

ud
ge

ts

Sub-Total 771 408 (363) (358) (5)
0 0 Salaries 0 0 0 0 0

147,629 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 147,629 147,629 0 0 0

(148,654) 0 Income (148,654) (148,654) 0 0 0
(1,025) 0

H
ou

si
ng

 
B

en
ef

it 
S

ub
si

dy

Sub-Total (1,025) (1,025) 0 0 0

7,436 0 Total Corporate 
Operating Budgets 7,436 6,825 (611) (606) (5)

Page 18



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Development & Risk Contingency

29. For 2019/20 £12,863k was set aside to manage uncertain elements of budgets within the 
Development & Risk Contingency, which included £12,031k in relation to specific risk items 
and £832k as General Contingency to manage unforeseen issues.  With £2,789k released to 
service budget, £10,074k remains available to manage the full range of issues facing the 
council. As at Month 10, a £704k underspend is reported against this sum, representing a £8k 
improvement on Month 9, while retaining £250k General Contingency to manage any emerging 
issues.

Table 5: Development & Risk Contingency
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9

£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,072 0
Impact of Welfare 
Reform on 
Homelessness

1,072 619 (453) (390) (62)

1,972 (772) Waste Disposal Levy & 
Associated Contracts 1,200 100 (1,100) (1,181) 81

0 0

R
es

id
en

ts
 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Development Control - 
Major Applications 0 571 571 571 0

0 0 Housing Legal 
Challenges 0 475 475 450 25

1,885 0 Asylum Service 1,885 695 (1,186) (1,186) (4)

3,273 (403) Demographic Growth - 
Looked After Children 2,870 2,700 (122) (122) (48)

1,017 (367) Demographic Growth - 
Children with Disabilities 650 895 245 245 0

277 0 Social Worker Agency 
Contingency 277 221 (56) (56) 0

997 (259) SEN transport 738 1,875 1,137 1,137 0

1,938 (988) Demographic Growth - 
Adult Social Care 950 1,700 750 750 0

0 0

S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e

Additional BCF Income 0 (331) (331) (331) 0

(400) 0 Additional Investment 
Income (400) (400) 0 0 0

832 0 C
or

p.
 

Ite
m

s

General Contingency 832 250 (582) (582) 0

12,863 (2,789) Total Development & Risk 
Contingency 10,074 9,370 (704) (694) (8)

30. Within Residents Services, Development Risk and Contingency is showing a reported 
underspend of £507k, a movement of £44k from Month 9 linked to improvements in 
Homelessness being offset by movements on Waste Disposal and Housing Legal Challenges.  
The overall underspend includes a £330k rebate from the West London waste Authority.

31. Within Social Care there is forecast a £1,186k reduced call on contingency in Asylum Service 
due to an uplift in grant income following a Home Office review of funding rates and the Month 
10 favourable movement of £4k of increased income relating to rental income as more UASC 
contribute towards their rental costs. There was significant growth built into the Looked After 
Children budget in 2019/20 and this has seen a favourable movement in Month 10, which 
delivers an underspend of £122k against contingency. 

32. Social Worker Agency Contingency has a £221k call on contingency, £56k less than budget, 
reflecting assumed recruitment to permanent posts and changes to agency arrangements. 
Adult Placements has a £1,700k call on contingency, which is £750k over contingency budget. 

Page 19



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

This reflects the increase in the number of placements particularly in Mental Health. This 
position is partially funded through a contribution to contingency from additional Better Care 
Fund grant announced in July 2019.

33. SEN Transport is reporting a £1,875k call on contingency, £1,137k higher than the budgeted 
amount. This is reflecting the continued growth in the number of children that have an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), which is currently running at approximately 11%, 
and is reflected in the MTFF for 2020/21.

34. The above specific calls on contingency result in a net underspend of £222k, with a further 
£582k underspend projected against General Contingency to deliver an overall favourable 
variance of £704k.  Within this position, there remains £250k General Contingency available to 
respond to emerging risks and issues, which if not required would further improve General 
Balances at outturn. 

Unallocated Priority Growth and HIP Initiatives

35. There was a budget of £250k Unallocated Priority Growth in 2019/20, following allocation of 
£40k for CCTV in the Borough and £60k for Little Britain Lake Patrol Officers, there remains 
£150k available to support new investment in services.

36. In addition, £200k of HIP Initiative funding was included in the 2019/20 budget and 
supplemented by £718k brought forward balances, to provide total resources of £918k. £356k 
of projects have been approved for funding from HIP resources, with £104k underspend 
relating to projects completed in 2018/19, there is £680k available for future releases. 

Schools Budget

37. At Month 9 the Dedicated Schools Grant position is an in-year overspend of £5,349k. This is 
an adverse movement of £189k on the Month 9 position with the overspend being 
predominantly due to increasing pressures in the cost of High Needs. The High Needs Block 
is now funding Early Support Funding with a current forecast of £438k in year, which represents 
investment ultimately expected to reduce the pace of growth in higher cost support through 
early intervention where appropriate to a child’s needs. The total deficit carry forward is 
currently forecast at £13,841k, which almost entirely relates to the widely publicised funding 
shortfall for High Needs and SEND provision. 

Collection Fund

38. A £440k surplus is reported against the Collection Fund at Month 10, which is made up of a 
£58k surplus on Council Tax and a £382k surplus on Business Rates.  The reported variance 
is primarily driven by the brought forward surplus on Business Rates with no material 
movements in 2019/20.  This surplus is available to support General Fund budgets in future 
years and represents a £19k improvement on Month 9 projections.

Housing Revenue Account

39. The Housing Revenue Account is currently forecasting a £47k favourable position, a £5k 
improvement from Month 9, resulting in a drawdown of reserves of £1,198k. This results in a 
projected 2019/20 closing HRA General Balance of £17,062k. The use of reserves is funding 
investment in new housing stock.

Page 20



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Future Revenue Implications of Capital Programme

40. Appendix D to this report outlines the forecast outturn on the 2019/20 to 2023/24 Capital 
Programme, with a balanced position over the five-year programme.  Alongside marginal 
variances on Government Grant income and Capital Receipts, Prudential Borrowing is 
projected to be £1,103k lower than budgeted in February 2019. The reduction in the borrowing 
requirement was reflected in the refreshed capital programme approved by Cabinet and 
Council in February 2020. 

Page 21



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix A – Detailed Group Forecasts (General Fund)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S OFFICE

41. The overall position for Chief Executive’s Office at Month 10 is a forecast pressure of £4k and 
is in line with the position reported for Month 9.

42. Income across the Group will continue to be closely monitored following statutory uplifts to 
existing fees and charges at the start of the financial year as well as the introduction of new 
fees within Democratic Services, to further determine the impact of the changes upon demand.  

Table 6: Chief Executive's Office Operating Budgets
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,479 0 Salaries 1,479 1,496 17 13 4

1,721 1 Non-Sal 
Exp 1,722 1,696 (26) (19) (7)

(701) (1) Income (702) (684) 18 9 9
2,499 0 D

em
oc

ra
tic

 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

Sub-Total 2,499 2,508 9 3 6
1,900 (146) Salaries 1,754 1,781 27 27 0

830 145 Non-Sal 
Exp 975 990 15 8 7

(230) 0 Income (230) (252) (22) (23) 1
2,500 (1)

H
um

an
 

R
es

ou
rc

es

Sub-Total 2,499 2,519 20 12 8
2,124 0 Salaries 2,124 2,106 (18) (14) (4)

56 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 56 59 3 3 0

(276) 0 Income (276) (286) (10) 0 (10)
1,904 0

Le
ga

l 
S

er
vi

ce
s

Sub-Total 1,904 1,879 (25) (11) (14)
5,503 (146) Salaries 5,357 5,383 26 26 0

2,607 146 Non-Sal 
Exp 2,753 2,745 (8) (8) 0

(1,207) (1) Income (1,208) (1,222) (14) (14) 0
6,903 (1)

C
hi

ef
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e'
s 

O
ffi

ce
 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e

Total 6,902 6,906 4 4 0

Page 22



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

FINANCE

43. The overall position for Finance at Month 10 is a forecast underspend of £63k due mainly to 
the benefit of additional external grant funding for revenues inspections and Fleet asset 
disposals partly offset by increased expenditure within the Fleet Service.  This position is in line 
with that reported throughout the year.

Table 7: Finance Operating Budgets
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
6,021 37 Salaries 6,058 6,015 (43) (40) (3)

3,505 12 Non-Sal 
Exp 3,517 3,536 19 25 (6)

(2,683) (174) Income (2,857) (2,934) (77) (76) (1)
6,843 (125) E

xc
he

qu
er

 
an

d 
B

us
in

es
s 

A
ss

ur
an

ce
 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Sub-Total 6,718 6,617 (101) (91) (10)
1,743 0 Salaries 1,743 1,722 (21) (31) 10

3,243 8 Non-Sal 
Exp 3,251 3,353 102 110 (8)

(93) (1) Income (94) (155) (61) (61) 0
4,893 7 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t

Sub-Total 4,900 4,920 20 18 2
4,213 (94) Salaries 4,119 4,117 (2) 0 (2)

344 93 Non-Sal 
Exp 437 481 44 43 1

(445) 0 Income (445) (469) (24) (22) (2)
4,112 (1) C

or
po

ra
te

 
Fi

na
nc

e

Sub-Total 4,111 4,129 18 21 (3)
11,977 (57) Salaries 11,920 11,854 (66) (71) 5

7,092 113 Non-Sal 
Exp 7,205 7,370 165 178 (13)

(3,221) (175) Income (3,396) (3,558) (162) (159) (3)
15,848 (119)

Fi
na

nc
e 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e

Total 15,729 15,666 (63) (52) (11)

Page 23



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

RESIDENTS SERVICES

44. Residents Services directorate is showing a projected outturn underspend of £9k at Month 10, 
excluding pressure areas that have identified contingency provisions.  The overall variance is 
a result of pressures across Residual Education and ICT partially netted down by underspends 
in Administrative, Technical and Business Services.  

Table 8: Residents Services Operating Budgets
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
17,619 (43) Salaries 17,576 17,615 39 87 (48)

32,237 772 Non-Sal 
Exp 33,009 33,497 488 231 257

(10,590) (58) Income (10,648) (10,815) (167) 86 (253)
39,266 671 In

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 
W

as
te

 a
nd

 
IC

T

Sub-Total 39,937 40,297 360 404 (44)
19,221 862 Salaries 20,083 19,725 (358) (76) (282)

24,490 337 Non-Sal 
Exp 24,827 25,204 377 264 113

(18,024) (927) Income (18,951) (18,626) 325 118 207
25,687 272

H
ou

si
ng

, 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

t, 
E

du
ca

tio
n,

 
H

ea
lth

 &
 

W
el

lb
ei

ng

Sub-Total 25,959 26,303 344 306 38

4,324 25 Salaries 4,349 4,273 (76) (75) (1)

1,240 174 Non-Sal 
Exp 1,414 1,508 94 94 0

(4,534) (206) Income (4,740) (4,726) 14 13 1
1,030 (7)

P
la

nn
in

g,
 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
&

 R
eg

en
er

at
io

n

Sub-Total 1,023 1,055 32 32 0

13,486 50 Salaries 13,536 12,998 (538) (378) (160)

3,865 (28) Non-Sal 
Exp 3,837 3,964 127 71 56

(10,818) (122) Income (10,940) (11,274) (334) (373) 39
6,532 (100) A

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e,

 
Te

ch
ni

ca
l &

 
B

us
in

es
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Sub-Total 6,433 5,688 (745) (680) (65)
54,650 894 Salaries 55,544 54,611 (933) (442) (491)

61,832 1,255 Non-Sal 
Exp 63,087 64,173 1,086 660 426

(43,966) (1,313) Income (45,279) (45,441) (162) (156) (6)
72,515 836 R

es
id

en
ts

 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e

Total 73,352 73,343 (9) 62 (71)

45. The Council’s 2019/20 contingency budget contains provision for areas of expenditure or 
income within Residents Services for which there is a greater degree of uncertainty.  At Month 
10, projected calls on contingency are forecast to be £507k less than the budgeted provision, 
a £44k adverse movement from Month 9. The following table shows the breakdown for each 
contingency item.

Page 24



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Table 9: Development and Risk Contingency
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Development & Risk 
Contingency

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,072 0
Impact of Welfare 
Reform on 
Homelessness

1,072 619 (453) (390) (62)

1,972 (772) Waste Disposal Levy & 
Associated Contracts 1,200 100 (1,100) (1,181) 81

0 0 Development Control – 
Income 0 571 571 571 0

0 0 Housing Legal 
Challenges 0 475 475 450 25

3,044 (772) Current Commitments 2,272 1,765 (507) (550) (44)

46. The Month 10 data in the table below shows the use of Temporary Accommodation. The first 
3 months of the financial year saw an increase in the number of Households in higher cost Bed 
& Breakfast placements, continuing the trend from quarter four of 2018/19. At Month 10, there 
has been a reduction in the use of Temporary Accommodation from the high recorded at the 
end of quarter 1. The total number accommodated in Bed and Breakfast is still currently higher 
than budgeted for in 2019/20, however, management actions to meet the targets continue to 
be implemented.

Table 10: Housing Needs performance data

 
November 19 December 

19
January 20

All Approaches 238 180 286
Full Assessment Required 168 126 223
New into Temporary Accommodation (Homeless 
and Relief) 37 36 33

Households in Temporary Accommodation 429 421 413
Households in B&B 139 138 137

47. As in previous years, a contingency has been set aside in 2019/20 to resource the procurement 
of Private Sector placements or the need for Temporary Accommodation in the borough. The 
call on contingency relating to homelessness is forecast at £619k, £453k below the budgeted 
provision. The service is forecasting the number of clients in B&B accommodation will average 
157 over the financial year. A planned reduction in numbers through increased non-cost 
prevention and move-on activity has resulted in a projected favourable outturn on 
accommodation budgets. The Month 10 position also reflects the benefit of reduced unit costs. 

48. The Council will continue to closely monitor this risk, as following the introduction of the 
Homeless Reduction Act in April 2018, there are emerging pressures on the demand for 
Housing assistance. Specific funding is retained within an earmarked reserve to manage this 
risk.  

49. A call of £100k is projected against the waste contingency, which was established to fund 
estimated population driven increases in the cost of disposal via the West London Waste 
Authority (WLWA) levy and associated waste disposal contracts. This reflects a reduction of 
£1,100k compared with budget, comprising the following elements:

 The WLWA has disbursed excess reserves to boroughs, with Hillingdon having received 
£331k at the end of July.  

Page 25



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

 The retendering of the Council’s contract for the collection and processing of highways 
arising, bulky items and street litter has resulted in the appointment of a new supplier for 
that element relating to highways arisings and street sweepings, at a reduced cost.

 Aggregate Pay as you Throw tonnage projections and other Waste Disposal Contract costs 
are now falling below budgeted levels.

50. Whilst market conditions are affecting sales prices for recyclables, impacting on costs of the 
Council’s mixed dry recycling contract with Biffa (with some additional risk arising as a result 
of high contamination levels) and significant costs have been incurred in relation to fly tipping 
clearance and disposal, current projections indicate that these factors can be managed within 
the remaining contingency sum.

51. There was a marked downturn in volumes of major planning applications submitted to the 
Council during the first half of 2019/20, with income over this period £300k lower than that 
secured in the first half of 2018/19.  This trend has continued in quarter three and is anticipated 
to continue into quarter four, with a further £271k pressure being reported for the second half 
of the year. It is unlikely that income over the remaining months will be sufficient to offset this 
pressure and therefore a pressure of £571k is reported against General Contingency. This 
major revenue stream will continue to be closely monitored over the remainder of this financial 
year.

52. The Housing Service has incurred significant legal costs defending challenges against the 
Housing Allocation Policy. Projected expenditure above budgeted levels is reported against 
General Contingency. The Allocation Policy has since been updated and this should mitigate 
the risk of further legal challenges.

Infrastructure, Waste and ICT (£360k overspend, £44k favourable movement)

53. At Month 10, there is a £360k forecast overspend, a favourable movement of £44k from Month 
9 arising from a number of material variances across Waste, ICT and Highways, reflecting a 
combination of ongoing staffing and non-staffing pressures. The overall forecast encompasses 
a number of management actions, which will be closely monitored during the remainder of the 
financial year.

54. Earmarked reserve drawdowns totalling £310k are partly offsetting the gross pressure on 
Waste Services of £341k. The projected underlying pressure includes a staffing overspend of 
£709k due to additional agency usage within Street Cleansing, high levels of overtime and an 
unachievable managed vacancy factor owing to the need to cover permanent staff absences 
across front-line teams.

55. Overspends on refuse sacks, staff training costs and on public convenience costs owing to the 
timing of removal of several JCDecaux units are largely netted down by an underspend on the 
budget for a second CA site, given that the current monthly waste weekend operation increased 
to a weekly basis with effect from early January 2020 only. Offsetting the cost pressures is an 
anticipated £385k income over-achievement, largely reflecting buoyant trade tipping activity at 
the New Years Green Lane CA site.

56. The Highways overspend at Month 10 is £216k, largely resulting from staffing pressures 
associated with unachievable vacancy factor (staff turnover levels being very low), above 

Page 26



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

budget street lighting electricity costs and a shortfall in London Permit Scheme income, the 
service having reported that levels of major permit applications from utility companies have 
decreased.

57. ICT is reporting a net overspend of £58k. There is a forecast pressure on contract costs of 
£416k, though this is partly netted down by (i) a £308k staff costs underspend, reflecting 
vacancies and recruitment delays whilst the service progresses a recently approved restructure 
and more general staff turnover and (ii) £50k of fee recharges to ICT capital projects. The 
service continues to review contracts and the impact of the cloud migration in order to manage 
down the net pressure.

Housing, Environment, Education, Health & Wellbeing (£344k overspend, £38k adverse 
movement)

58. At Month 10 there is an overspend position of £344k across the service, primarily from 
pressures within the Residual Education function, Enforcement income and Homeless 
Prevention.

59. Green Spaces is showing a breakeven position against budget as at month 10, including a 
drawdown of £113k from earmarked reserves (£7k Youth Fund, £52k Parks Improvement 
Grant, and £54k redundancy reserve). Non staffing pressures are driven by the delay in the 
planned closure of Ruislip Golf from May to September when the next phase of HS2 works 
commences; in addition there are pressure in grounds maintenance for equipment 
maintenance and repair. The position is mitigated by additional income and HS2 compensation 
at Ruislip Golf course, under spends from hard to recruit vacant posts within Youth Centres, 
and forecast income to exceed targets at Battle of Britain Bunker and Visitor Centre.

60. There is a £249k pressure within the Residual Education service, a £17k favourable movement 
from Month 9. The delivery of these functions is currently being reviewed as part of a BID 
workstream.

61. The Housing Options, Homelessness and Standards team is projecting an overspend of £237k, 
an adverse movement of £195k from Month 9. The movement is a result of reduced 
enforcement income following an increase in the number of appeals resulting in greater 
uncertainty regarding the timing and value of income to be received. 

62. Community Safety, Customer Engagement and Domestic Abuse is projecting an underspend 
of £94k, this driven by part year vacancies within the CCTV monitoring centre.

Planning, Transportation & Regeneration (£32k overspend, no change)

63. During 2019/20, external consultants have been commissioned to provide legal and other 
specialist technical support where posts have been vacant, accounting for the adverse variance 
across staffing and non-staffing expenditure of £32k. With the exception of Development 
Control income where a shortfall is reported against General Contingency, there are no material 
variances on income across the service. 

Administrative, Technical & Business Services (£745k underspend, £65k favourable 
movement)

64. There is an overall improvement of £65k across the service in Month 10. A £160k favourable 
movement within staff costs is attributable to recruitment delays across Technical Admin and 
the Contact Centre and revised agency assumptions to the end of the financial year within 
Food Health and Safety. Partly offsetting this are adverse movements of £56k in non-staffing 

Page 27



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

costs (mainly relating to legal costs in Licensing and an increased volume of postage mail-outs) 
and £39k in income forecasts for the Imported Food service and parking bay suspensions.

Page 28



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

SOCIAL CARE (£384k underspend, £1k improvement)

65. Social Care is projecting an underspend of £384k as at Month 10, an improvement of £1k on 
the Month 9 projections, largely due to a reduction in staffing costs across the service. 
However, within this position, there are some offsetting larger movements including; a 
projected underspend in Children’s Services staffing costs, additional Troubled Families Grant 
income through improved Payment by Results submissions and a projected reduction in 
income from the CCG relating to a number of clients previously fully funded by the CCG for 
Continuing Health Care needs. 

66. This position also includes a number of ongoing pressures, which are being managed by the 
Service.  These relate to; a £642k net pressure in the running costs of the Early Years Centres, 
ongoing pressures on the cost of Legal Counsel, the provision of Temporary Accommodation 
for Section 17 cases and above inflation increases in the cost of agency staff in the SEN 
Transport Service in both 2018/19 and 2019/20.

Table 11: Social Care Operating Budgets
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
18,442 (1,201) Salaries 17,242 16,724 (518) (563) 45

17,704 1,087 Non-Sal 
Exp 18,792 19,590 798 833 (35)

(7,656) (30) Income (7,688) (8,392) (704) (694) (10)
28,490 (144) C

hi
ld

re
n'

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s

Sub-Total 28,346 27,922 (424) (424) 0
2,051 (652) Salaries 1,399 1,598 199 204 (5)

186 272 Non-Sal 
Exp 458 545 87 87 0

(427) 337 Income (90) (241) (151) (150) (1)
1,810 (43)

S
E

N
D

Sub-Total 1,767 1,902 135 141 (6)
7,720 171 Salaries 7,933 7,908 (25) (18) (7)

72,847 247 Non-Sal 
Exp 73,094 73,128 34 (545) 579

(21,829) 722 Income (21,107) (20,591) 516 1,084 (568)
58,738 1,140 A

du
lt 

S
oc

ia
l 

W
or

k

Sub-Total 59,920 60,445 525 521 4
18,286 116 Salaries 18,402 17,636 (766) (842) 76

11,525 626 Non-Sal 
Exp 12,109 12,973 864 916 (52)

(3,496) (273) Income (3,769) (4,487) (718) (695) (23)
26,315 469 P

ro
vi

de
r a

nd
 

C
om

m
is

si
on

e
d 

C
ar

e

Sub-Total 26,742 26,122 (620) (621) 1
46,499 (1,566) Salaries 44,976 43,866 (1,110) (1,219) 109

102,262 2,232 Non-Sal 
Exp 104,453 106,236 1,783 1,291 492

(33,408) 756 Income (32,654) (33,711) (1,057) (455) (602)
115,353 1,422 So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
D

ire
ct

or
at

e 
To

ta
l

Sub-Total 116,775 116,391 (384) (383) (1)

Page 29



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

SOCIAL CARE DEVELOPMENT AND RISK CONTINGENCY (£385k overspend, £52k 
Improvement)

67. The Council's 2019/20 Development and Risk Contingency includes provisions for areas of 
expenditure within Social Care, for which there is a greater degree of uncertainty and 
predominantly relates to in-year demographic changes across Adults and Children’s, including 
Asylum Seekers and SEN Transport. Table 12 sets out the Month 10 projected position for the 
Development and Risk Contingency, which is reporting a pressure of £385k.  This represents 
an improvement of £52k on the Month 9 position due to a reduced call on contingency for 
Demographic Growth within Looked after Children and a slight reduction within the Asylum 
Service.

68. The overspend is due to pressures in the cost of Adult placements, where there is growth 
across Older People and Mental Health placements. The service have put in place a range of 
management action, including a further review of all high cost placements, a review of all of the 
block contracts to maximise occupancy rates and a review of all external income. Additionally, 
the service are also experiencing a significant and growing pressure in SEN Transport 
requirements.  This is as a result of more single occupancy or lower occupancy routes being 
required, due to a continued high level of growth in the number of children that have an 
Education, Health and Care Plan, most of whom cannot be placed in local schools as they are 
at full capacity. This reflects the growing pressure that is also being reported in the Dedicated 
Schools Grant position later in this report.

Table 12: Social Care Development & Risk Contingency
Month 10  

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9
£'000 £'000

Development & Risk 
Contingency

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,885 0 Asylum Service 1,885 695 (1,190) (1,186) (4)

3,273 (403) Demographic Growth - 
Looked After Children 2,870 2,700 (170) (122) (48)

1,017 (367)
Demographic Growth - 
Children with 
Disabilities

650 895 245 245 0

277 0 Social Worker Agency 
Contingency 277 221 (56) (56) 0

997 (259) SEN Transport 738 1,875 1,137 1,137 0

1,938 (988) Demographic Growth - 
Adult Social Care 950 1,700 750 750 0

0 0 Additional BCF Income 0 (331) (331) (331) 0
9,387 (2,017) Current Commitments 7,370 7,755 385 437 (52)

Asylum Service (£1,190k underspend, £4k favourable movement)

69. The service is projecting a drawdown of £695k from the contingency as at Month 10, an 
improvement of £4k on the Month 9 position.  This is due to the service tightening up processes 
and controls, which has resulted in an increase in the level of rental income paid as more UASC 
contribute towards their rental costs (where they can afford to do so).  In addition, there has 
been an increase in the level of grant funding, which has come as a result of an agreed increase 
in the funding rate for all UASC aged 16 to 17 from £91 per day to £114 per day with effect 
from 1 April 2019 and also better use of the block contracts.

Demographic Growth - Looked After Children (£170k underspend, £48k favourable 
movement)

Page 30



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

70. The service is projecting a drawdown of £2,700k from the Contingency, representing an 
underspend of £170k as at Month 10 and a favourable movement of £48k on the Month 9 
position. This is primarily as a result of an increase in the cost of Semi-Independent 
placements, with the number of Looked After Children remaining quite stable. However, this 
budget can be very volatile, due to the requirement for the service to place children in 
Residential placements and it is evident that the length of stay in a Residential placement has 
increased, where most are now likely to be in their placement for a year or more. In order to 
attempt to mitigate significant increases in costs, the service are placing children in Council run 
Children’s Homes, where no other viable option is available, thereby reducing the need to place 
in out of borough high cost residential placements.

71. The service continues to monitor this position through regular reviews of individual cases, and 
where possible, children are stepped down when it is safe to do so. Additionally, the service 
has implemented new ways of working, with the use of a grant of £400k, to support vulnerable 
children and prevent them from entering the care system. Early Indications are that this is 
having a significant impact on supporting young people and families to remain in their existing 
environment rather than being brought into the care system.

Demographic Growth – Children with Disabilities (£245k overspend, nil movement)

72. The service is projecting a drawdown of £895k from the Contingency as at Month 10, no change 
on the Month 9 position.  The service is having to support an increase in the number of cases 
that have more complex needs, which in most cases, require a residential placement or more 
respite care. As a result, the service is planning a major review of the support being provided 
and the range of services on offer for Children with Disabilities, to identify opportunities to 
reduce the cost of placements. A number of new initiatives have been introduced, including 
more respite care over the school holidays and weekends.

Social Worker Agency (Children's) (£56k underspend, no change)

73. The service is projecting a drawdown of £221k from the contingency as at Month 19, no change 
on the Month 9 position. The underspend reported reflects a reduced use of agency staff, where 
the cost has reduced by £1,034k when compared to the 2018/19 outturn position.

74. However, the service continue to have a number of vacancies, which are being covered by 
agency staff, where the cost is approximately £18k higher than a permanent member of staff, 
reflecting that the recruitment of Social Workers continues to be very competitive.

75. At its meeting on 22 July 2019, Cabinet agreed to enter into a contract with Sanctuary Ltd for 
a specialist agency provision for qualified Social Workers and SEND staff. Based on the new 
rates proposed in this new contract, the premium cost of an agency worker reduces from an 
average of approximately £18k to £13k. This position will be closely monitored as the Social 
Care market remains highly competitive.

Demographic Growth - SEN Transport (£1,137k overspend, no movement)

76.The service is projecting a drawdown of £1,875k from the SEN Transport contingency as at 
Month 10, with no movement from the month 9 position, as the service continues to take 
management action to review the use of Passenger Assistants and monitors route planning. 
The overspend reported reflects the continued growth in the number of children that have an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), which is currently running at approximately 11%.  
The actual growth between March 2019 and November 2019 was 197, representing an increase 
of 8.4% over that period, which is having a major financial impact on the Dedicated Schools 
Grant budget. 

Page 31



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

77.Additionally, it is becoming more challenging to avoid having to procure single occupancy or 
lower occupancy routes, as children are having to be placed in out of borough placements. 
These are predominantly Independent and Non Maintained Special Schools as local provision 
is at full capacity, as is most other Local Authority provision, given that they are experiencing 
significant and continued growth in the number of pupils with an EHCP. The latest data indicates 
that 17 children started a new placement in an Independent or Non-maintained special school 
in September 2019, where these children have not been able to be placed on an existing route.

Demographic Growth - Adult Social Care (£750k overspend, no change)

78. The service is projecting a drawdown of £1,700k from the Adult Social Care contingency, 
equating to an overspend of £750k as at Month 10, no change on the Month 9 position. The 
overspend is due to pressures in the cost of Adult placements, where there is an emerging 
growth across Older People and Mental Health placements. The service have put in place a 
range of management action, including a further review of all high cost placements, a review 
of all of the block contracts to maximise occupancy rates and a review of all external income, 
to mitigate some of the gross pressure emerging.

Additional Better Care Fund Income (£331k, no movement)

79. Additional Better Care Fund Income of £331k is being reflected in the contingency position for 
Social Care, to enable Social Care to manage the pressures outlined. 

SOCIAL CARE DIRECTORATE OPERATING BUDGETS (£385k underspend, £1k 
improvement)

Children's Services (£424k underspend, no movement)

80. The service is projecting an underspend of £424k, as at Month 10, no change on the Month 9 
position. This position incorporates a £94k underspend due to the timing of migration to the 
Regional Adoption Agency, alongside staffing underspends reflecting the successful 
recruitment of newly qualified Social Workers and less reliance on agency staff. However, the 
service are still having difficulties recruiting and retaining Senior Social Workers and will explore 
the best approach to addressing this over the coming months.

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (£135k overspend, £6k favourable movement)

81. The service is projecting an overspend of £135k as at Month 10, a favourable movement of 
£6k on the Month 9 position. The overspend is due to the service having to employ agency 
staff to cover a number of critical roles in the SEND Team, as the service is coming to the end 
of recruitment to the new staffing structure.

Adult Social Work (£525k overspend, £4k adverse movement)

82. The service is projecting an overspend of £525k as at Month 10, an adverse movement of £4k 
on the Month 9 position. The overspend includes the impact of a reduction in the amount of 
income that the Council will receive from a number of clients funded fully or partially from the 
CCG.  There are a number of clients previously meeting the Continuing Health Care (CHC) 
threshold, where a recent assessment has indicated that these clients no longer meet the CHC 
criteria, but are now funded under other less generous health funding mechanisms.

83. Additionally, a review of all S117 clients (including those not previously funded by the CCG), 
has indicated that there will be a shortfall in the additional income generated when compared 
to the saving proposal. However, it has been agreed that this shortfall can be covered by 
implementing the new approach to managing the Better Care Fund capital grant.

Page 32



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Provider and Commissioned Care (£621k underspend, £1k adverse movement)

84. The service is projecting an underspend of £621k as at Month 10, £1k adverse movement on 
the Month 9 position. However, it should be noted that this position includes a projected 
overspend of £642k on the Early Years Centres and an overspend of £152k on SEN Transport 
costs.  These overspends are being mitigated by underspends across the Children’s Centres, 
the cost of catering and through implementing a new approach to managing the Better Care 
Fund capital grant, where the reported position reflects a £919k positive revenue impact in 
2019/20.

Page 33



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix B – Other Funds

SCHOOLS BUDGET

Dedicated Schools Grant (£5,349k overspend, £189k adverse)

85. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) outturn position is an in-year overspend of £5,349k at 
month 10, an adverse movement of £189k on the Month 9 position. This overspend is due to 
continuing pressures in the cost of High Needs placements, where growth remains at between 
10% and 11%. Where pupils cannot be placed in borough, as local provision is at capacity, 
they are now more likely to be placed in more costly, Independent and Non Maintained Special 
Schools. This growing pressure is also evident in the cost of SEN Transport. When the £8,492k 
deficit brought forward from 2018/19 is taken into account, the cumulative deficit carry forward 
to 2020/21 is £13,841k.

Table 13: DSG Income and Expenditure 2019/20

Month 10 Variance
Original
Budget

Budget
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(at 

Month 9)

Change 
from 

Month 9

£'000 £'000

Funding Block

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(278,655) (414) Dedicated Schools Grant Income (279,069) (279,069) 0 0
215,155 0 Schools Block 215,155 215,013 (142) (78) (64)

24,821 107 Early Years Block 24,928 24,872 (56) (56) 0

3,173 14 Central School Services Block 3,187 3,936 749 745 4

35,506 293 High Needs Block 35,799 40,597 4,798 4,549 249

0 0 Total Funding Blocks 0 5,349 5,349 5,160 189

0 0
Balance Brought Forward 

1 April 2019 8,492 8,492  
     

0 0 Balance Carried Forward 31 March 2020 8,492 13,841  

Dedicated Schools Grant Income (no variance, no movement)

86. The DSG has been adjusted to reflect the actual uptake of the free entitlement for eligible two, 
three and four year olds. This adjustment was based on the January 2019 census and includes 
a retrospective change to the 2018/19 funding, as well as a recalculation of the 2019/20 Early 
Years block funding. This has resulted in an increase to the Early Years block allocation 
following an uptake in the number of eligible children accessing the additional hours free 
entitlement. There has also been an amendment to the High Needs block allocation following 
confirmation of the import/export adjustment for 2019/20 which updates funding to reflect the 
local authority in which pupils with SEND are resident.

Schools Block (£142k underspend, £64k favourable)

87. The Schools Block includes all funding paid directly to mainstream schools as part of their 
delegated budget share, including the funding recouped by the ESFA and paid to mainstream 
academies. 

88. There is also a growth contingency fund which is funded from the Schools Block. Schools that 
are expanding, in agreement with the local authority, to meet basic need pupil population 
growth, receive additional funding to provide financial recompense to schools throughout the 
relevant financial year to cover the cost of this agreed and planned growth. 

Page 34



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

89. Schools Forum took the decision to withhold growth contingency allocations for two schools 
due to insufficient projected pupil growth in September 2019 and therefore there will be an 
underspend relating to this allocation. The growth contingency also funds diseconomies of 
scale funding for new basic need academy schools and the favourable movement in month 10 
follows a review of the current year allocations. However, officers are still waiting on further 
details from one school on the level of diseconomies of scale funding that is being requested, 
which could still affect the final position.

Early Years Block (£56k underspend, no change)

90. Two year old funding has been adjusted to reflect the number of children accessing the free 
entitlement recorded on the January 2019 census. This has resulted in a decrease in funding 
of £140k relating to 2019/20. This potentially could cause an additional pressure in the Early 
Years block if the number of children accessing the free entitlement increases, as any funding 
adjustment will be based on numbers recorded in the January 2020 census.

91. The 3 and 4 year old funding for both the universal and the additional free entitlement has also 
been adjusted in July following the January 2019 census. As anticipated the funding allocation 
has increased as the number of children accessing the additional free entitlement has 
increased significantly over the past year. There was also a retrospective adjustment relating 
to 2018/19, however, this was lower than anticipated.

Central School Services Block (£749k overspend, £4k adverse)

92. The overspend is predominantly as the result of an increase in the number of placements of 
looked after children. These placements are generally high cost out of borough residential 
placements, and if the setting is providing education, a proportion of the cost is funded from 
the DSG.

93. There is also a projected overspend in relation to the number of young people accessing 
alternative provision. The local authority currently commissions fifty places at the in-borough 
alternative provision setting and the historic trend is for numbers at the start of the academic 
year to be below this number before gradually building up. Currently numbers are projected to 
be in excess of the commissioned number, resulting in an additional cost pressure. As a result 
of this, the local authority are working with the provider to review the number of commissioned 
places.

94. There is also a projected £5k overspend in the Admissions team, where the additional workload 
as a result of the growth in the secondary pupil population along with a secondment covering 
a maternity, has resulted in a cost pressure.

High Needs Block (£4,798k overspend, £249k adverse)

95. There continues to be significant pressure in the High Needs Block in 2019/20, with an 
overspend of £4,798k being projected at month 10. The adverse movement from month 9 
relates to further growth in pupils with SEN requiring additional resources to meet their needs. 

96. It is becoming evident that the growth in the number of pupils with an EHCP is continuing to 
grow at a significant rate and it is becoming increasingly more difficult to place in borough as 
local provision is at full capacity. This then restricts the level of choice, where the Council is 
now having to place in Independent and Non Maintained Special Schools, who themselves are 
starting to reach full capacity.

Page 35



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

97. Putting this into context, the latest SEN 2 Data analysis indicates that across England the 
number of pupils with a plan has grown from a baseline of 287,290 plans in 2016/17 to 353,995 
plans in 2018/19, an increase of 66,705 plans over the two year period, equivalent to an 
increase of 23%. Additionally, the proportion of the pupil population that have a plan has 
increased from 3.31% in 2016/17 to 4.1% in 2018/19. There is an expectation that this trend 
will continue into 2019/20.

98. Due to a continuing lack of capacity in-borough and across other local authority provision, there 
is a requirement to place pupils in more costly school placements, with an increase in the 
number of children that commenced new placements in Independent special schools in the 
current academic year. This is resulting in significant additional pressure on the High Needs 
block. There is an expectation that this will become the only route that the Council will be able 
to take until more provision is created locally.

99. The new academic year has seen a further increase in the number of in-borough special 
schools that are now over their commissioned place number. Where a special school is over 
its planned place number there is a requirement to fund £10k per place plus the agreed top-up 
funding which is placing additional pressure on the High Needs block. 

100. There was a further increase in the cohort of post-16 SEN placements in 2019/20 and this has 
put additional pressure on the current and future High Needs budgets with the potential that 
placements for young people with SEN to be funded up to the age of 25.

101. There has been a further increase in the number of mainstream schools applying for 
exceptional SEN funding to address the needs of pupils before and during the EHCP process. 
The increase is a consequence of the increasing complexity and, in some cases, a lack of 
special school places meaning that mainstream schools are needing additional resource in 
order to maintain the placement. 

102. In addition to the cost of pupils with an EHCP, the High Needs Block is now funding Early 
Support Funding (ESF) as an alternative to the allocation of statutory funding for children with 
SEN who experience significant barriers to learning. This funding allows schools to access 
funding quicker to enable them to intervene early and have the greatest impact. The current 
projected spend on ESF in 2019/20 is £438k. 

Page 36



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

COLLECTION FUND

103. A surplus of £440k is reported within the Collection Fund relating to a favourable position on 
Business Rates, which is predominantly driven by a carry forward surplus, alongside a smaller 
surplus within Council Tax. Any surplus realised at outturn will be available to support the 
General Fund budget in future years.

104. The Council is participating in the 75% Business Rates Retention Pilot Pool for London, which 
provides scope for retaining additional growth while guaranteeing the level of income the 
Council would have received under the existing 50% Retention system.  Business Rates 
projections below reflect this guaranteed minimum level of surplus, with any additional funds 
available from the pool to be captured separately in budget setting reports as appropriate.

Table 16: Collection Fund
Month 10    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 
Month 

10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9

£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
(125,113) 0 Gross Income (125,113) (125,406) (293) (247) (46)

10,613 0 Council Tax 
Support 10,613 10,706 93 144 (51)

(734) 0 B/fwd Surplus (734) (592) 142 142 0
(115,234) 0 C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x

Sub-Total (115,234) (115,292) (58) 39 (97)
(110,633) 0 Gross Income (110,633) (111,163) (530) (775) 245

(5,286) 0 Section 31 
Grants (5,286) (5,121) 165 179 (14)

51,960 0 Less: Tariff 51,960 51,960 0 0 0
8,549 0 Less: Levy 8,549 9,114 565 680 (115)
(302) 0 B/fwd Surplus (302) (884) (582) (582) 0

(55,712) 0 B
us

in
es

s 
R

at
es

Sub-Total (55,712) (56,094) (382) (498) 116

(170,946) 0 Total Collection Fund (170,946) (171,386) (440) (459) 19

105. At Month 10 a surplus of £58k is projected against Council Tax, which is a favourable 
movement of £97k from Month 9, the movement includes a favourable position reported against 
Gross Income of £293k, which is being driven by a smaller than forecast growth in the taxbase 
in December 2019 returning to forecast assumptions in Month 10, with a similar improvement 
of £51k in Council Tax Support. A strong surplus against in year activity is being offset by the 
deficit of £142k relating to the brought forward surplus. Within this position, potential volatility 
in Discounts, Exemptions and the Council Tax Reduction Scheme continue to be closely 
monitored.

106. A £382k surplus is reported across Business Rates at Month 10, which is an adverse 
movement of £116k from Month 9; the movement is being driven by an adverse movement in 
Gross Rates, alongside favourable movements across Section 31 Grants of £14k and a 
favourable movement in the pressure on the Levy Adjustment of £115k. The net surplus is 
driven by growth in Gross Rates due to a number of new developments in the borough being 
brought into rating. Within this position, potential volatility in respect of Reliefs and Appeals 
continues to be closely monitored.

Page 37



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix C – HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

107. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently forecasting a drawdown of reserves of 
£1,198k, which is £47k more favourable than the budgeted position, with a small favourable 
movement of £5k on Month 9. The 2019/20 closing HRA General Balance is forecast to be 
£17,062k. The use of reserves is funding investment in new housing stock. The table below 
presents key variances by service area:

Table 17: Housing Revenue Account
Month 10 Variance (+ adv / - fav)

Revised 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 10)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 9)

Movement 
from 

Month 9

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Rent Income (56,186) (55,508) 678 752 (74)

Other Income (5,224) (5,528) (304) (173) (131)

Net Income (61,410) (61,036) 374 579 (205)
Housing Management 13,230 13,478 248 24 224

Tenant Services 4,411 4,548 137 150 (13)

Repairs 5,294 5,584 290 260 30

Planned Maintenance 4,255 3,159 (1,096) (1,055) (41)

Capital Programme Funding 18,820 18,615 (205) (205) 0
Interest & Investment Income 15,385 15,590 205 205 0
Development & Risk Contingency 1,260 1,260 0 0 0
Operating Costs 62,655 62,234 (421) (621) 200
      

(Surplus) / Deficit 1,245 1,198 (47) (42) (5)
General Balance 01/04/2019 (18,260) (18,260) 0 0 0
General Balance 31/03/2020 (17,015) (17,062) (47) (42) (5)

Income

108. As at Month 10 the rental income is forecast to under recover by £678k, a favourable movement 
of £74k on Month 9 due to updated assumptions taking into account quarter 3 actuals, stock 
movements and the timing of when new stock is likely to be rented to tenants.

109. Other income is forecast to over recover by £304k, a favourable movement of £131k on Month 
9 due to an increase income from leaseholders’ charges of £105k and tenants’ charges of 
£26k.  

110. The number of RTB applications received in the first ten months of 2019/20 was 144 compared 
to 137 for the same period in 2018/19, an increase of 5%.There have been 43 RTB completions 
in the first ten months of 2019/20 compared to 40 for the same period in 2018/19. The 2019/20 
RTB sales forecast for the year is 50, nil movement on Month 9.

Expenditure

111. The Housing management service is forecast to overspend by £248k, an adverse movement 
of £224k on Month 9 due to increased forecast spend on running costs of £21k and £203k from 
slippage in Digital Strategy savings expected to be delivered in full from 2020/21.  

Page 38



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

112. Tenant services is forecast to overspend by £137k, a favourable movement of £13k on Month 
9 relating to staffing.

113. The repairs budget is forecast to overspend by £290k, an adverse movement of £30k on Month 
9 due to increased forecast spend on environmental works. The planned maintenance budget 
is forecast to underspend by £1,096k, a favourable movement of £41k on Month 9 due to 
reduced forecast spend on surveys and remedial works.

114. As at Month 10 there is nil movement compared to Month 9 on the capital programme funding,  
interest and investment income and the development and risk contingency budgets.

HRA Capital Expenditure

115. The HRA capital programme is set out in the table below. The 2019/20 revised budget is 
£75,119k. The 2019/20 forecast expenditure is £48,841k with a net variance of £26,278k of 
which £25,032k is due to re-phasing and £1,246k due to a cost underspend. The net movement 
from Month 9 is an increase of £294k due to an increase in the underspend of £246k and an 
increase in re-phasing of £48k.

Table 18: HRA Capital Expenditure
2019/20

Project 
Re-

Phasing
 

Programme 2019/20 
Revised 
Budget

2019/20
Forecast

2019/20 
Cost 

Variance 
Forecast 

V 
Revised 
Budget  

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2019-24

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2019-24

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2019-24

Movement 
2019-24

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Major Projects (Note 1)        

New General Needs Housing Stock  40,146 31,503 0 (8,643) 144,495 144,736 241 0

New Build - Shared Ownership 10,607 2,636 0 (7,971) 15,377 15,377 0 0

New Build - Supported Housing 
Provision 3,960 2,332 (500) (1,128) 6,418 5,918 (500) 0

Total Major Projects 54,713 36,471 (500) (17,742) 166,290 166,031 (259) 0

HRA Programmes of Work        

Works to stock programme 17,755 11,445 (20) (6,290) 59,501 59,481 (20) (20)

Major Adaptations to Property 2,489 800 (700) (989) 10,204 9,504 (700) (200)

ICT 162 125 (26) (11) 162 136 (26) (26)

Total HRA Programmes of Work 20,406 12,370 (746) (7,290) 69,867 69,121 (746) (246)

Total HRA Capital 75,119 48,841 (1,246) (25,032) 236,157 235,152 (1,005) (246)

Movement on Month 7 0 (294) (246) (48) 0 (246) (246)

Note 1: see Annex A for a detailed breakdown of the major projects by scheme

Major Projects

116. The 2019/20 Major Projects programme revised budget is £54,713k.  Forecast expenditure is 
£36,471k, with a re-phasing of £17,742k and a cost underspend of £500k forecast in 2019/20, 
and a net underspend of £259k during the period 2019-2024.

New General Needs Housing Stock

Page 39



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

117. The 2019/20 General Needs Housing Stock revised budget is £40,146k. There is a forecast re-
phasing of £8,643k across the General Needs programme partly due to the commencement of 
some projects being later than initially expected. There has been an increase in forecast 
expenditure of £494k compared to Month 9 mainly due to additional buybacks being completed 
in the current year to avoid the repayment of unused retained Right to Buy receipts along with 
interest.

118. Construction works in respect of the redevelopment of Maple and Poplar Day Centres are 
expected to commence in the summer 2020 with some preliminary and design works taking 
place beforehand.  A total of 34 units will be constructed comprising 50% general needs social 
housing and the remainder being shared ownership.

119. The main contractor and external consultants have been appointed for the redevelopment of 
the former Willow Tree depot into general needs housing. The contractor has taken possession 
of the site with construction works expected to start shortly.

120. The main contractor is on site at the Nelson Road development and work has started with a 
view to complete the construction of the 6 new homes at the end of 2020.

121. Currently 52 buybacks have been approved, 46 in 2019/20 and 6 carried forward from 2018/19, 
with each acquisition at different stages of completion. The potential buybacks are estimated 
to cost up to £17,095k inclusive of stamp duty, legal fees & expected void repairs costs.

122. The forecast includes the approved purchase of 7 new properties on the Coleridge Way 
development for a combined acquisition cost of £3,289k. Also included in the forecast is the 
15% deposit of £1,307k for the acquisition of the freehold interest in a block of 28 units for use 
as a hostel and £584k for the acquisition of 2 new build apartments in Uxbridge.

123. A total budget of £5,665k has been allocated for the acquisition of 17 new build apartments 
over 3 sites within the borough. The acquisition of 6 units in Uxbridge and 5 units in Ruislip 
have completed with the purchase of the remaining 6 units in West Drayton expected to 
complete before March 2020.

New Build - Shared Ownership

124. The New Build Shared Ownership 2019/20 revised budget is £10,607k. The forecast 
expenditure is £2,636k with a projected re-phasing of £7,971k. This is predominantly stemming 
from the later than anticipated construction commencement date with respect to the Woodside 
and Belmore developments.

125. The new build shared ownership budget comprises schemes being delivered across five sites. 
These are expected to deliver 116 units in total.

New Build - Supported Housing

126. The Supported Housing Programme comprises the build of 160 mixed client group units across 
three different sites. The 2019/20 revised budget is £3,960k with forecast expenditure of 
£2,332k. There is a forecast underspend of £500k relating to the development at Grassy 
Meadow. 

127. The scheme at Parkview was handed over to the Council in October. Liquidated damages 
continue to be held against the contractor for delays with a legal adjudication process ongoing. 

Page 40



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Currently the total project costs are expected to come in within the revised budget pending any 
appeals from the contractor.

HRA Programmes of Work 

128. The Works to Stock revised budget is £17,755k.  Forecast expenditure is £11,445k with a cost 
underspend of £20k within the roofing programme and re-phasing variance of £6,290k, across 
various work streams due to the validation, procurement and consultation timetables required 
to deliver these works.

129. The major adaptations revised budget is £2,489k and there is a forecast re-phasing of £989k 
for works expected to complete in 2020/21. As the budget is partly uncommitted at this stage 
of the financial year, the budget is also forecast to underspend by £700k.  

130. The HRA ICT revised budget is £162k. There is a forecast underspend of £26k on uncommitted 
funding and re-phasing of £11k being projected for 2019/20.

HRA Capital Receipts

131. There have been 43 Right to Buy (RTB) sales of Council dwellings as at the end of January 
2020 for a total gross sales value of £7,701k and a further 7 sales are forecast to bring the 
yearly total to 50, totalling £9,000k in 2019/20.

132. During 2019/20, the £11,042k retained RTB receipts generated in 2016/17 could potentially 
become repayable unless the following expenditure profile is achieved: Q1 £11,710k, Q2 
£5,675k, Q3 £8,960k and Q4 £10,462k. Cumulative expenditure on 1 for 1 replacement from 
previous quarters above the minimum requirement can be carried forward.

Page 41



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Annex A: HRA Capital Expenditure – Major Projects breakdown by scheme

Prior 
Years Scheme Unit 

Numbers

2019/20 
Total 

Revised 
Budget

2019/20 
Total 

Revised 
Forecast

2019/20 
Variance

2019/20 
Cost 

Variance

Proposed 
Re-

phasing

Total 
Project 
Budget  

2019-2024

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2019-2024

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2019-2024

£'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,347 Acol Crescent Development 33 5,504 5,602 98 0 98 6,223 6,223 0
2,486 Housing Programme 7 35 35 0 0 0 35 35 0

262 Belmore Allotments 86 5,075 70 (5,005) 0 (5,005) 10,556 10,556 0
271 Maple and Poplar Day Centre 34 4,565 25 (4,540) 0 (4,540) 6,116 6,116 0
181 Willow Tree 10 2,488 123 (2,365) 0 (2,365) 2,761 2,761 0

84 Housing Programme - Tranche 4 14 2,286 47 (2,239) 0 (2,239) 2,617 2,617 0
107 Nelson Road 6 1,938 224 (1,714) 0 (1,714) 2,201 2,201 0

0 Great Benty (Note 1) 2 756 283 (473) 0 (473) 756 756 0
0 Coleridge Way Acquisition 7 3,289 3,289 0 0 0 3,289 3,289 0
0 TCM House Acquisition 28 1,307 1,307 0 0 0 1,307 1,307 0
0 191 Harefield Road Acquisition 2 584 584 0 0 0 584 584 0
0 Acquisition of 3 Sites 17 5,665 5,395 (270) 0 (270) 5,665 5,665 0
0 Acquisitions Including Buybacks TBC 14,666 17,095 2,429 0 2,429 64,675 64,675 0
0 Internal Developments TBC 0 0 0 0 (0) 50,009 50,009 0
0 Bartram Close (Note 2) N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 241 241

343 Woodside Development 27 2,594 63 (2,531) 0 (2,531) 3,077 3,077 0
20,149 Grassy Meadow 88 990 490 (500) (500) 0 990 490 (500)
12,746 Parkview 60 2,641 1,840 (801) 0 (801) 2,641 2,641 0

3 Yiewsley 12 330 0 (330) 0 (330) 2,787 2,787 0
37,979  433 54,713 36,471 (18,243) (500) (17,742) 166,290 166,031 (259)

           

4,120
New General Needs Housing 
Stock 157 40,146 31,503 (8,643) 0 (8,643) 144,495 144,736 241

960 New Build - Shared Ownership 116 10,607 2,636 (7,971) 0 (7,971) 15,377 15,377 0
32,899 New Build - Supported Housing 160 3,960 2,332 (1,628) (500) (1,128) 6,418 5,918 (500)
37,979  433 54,713 36,471 (18,243) (500) (17,742) 166,290 166,031 (259)

Note 1: Includes £276k appropriation cost for the Great Benty Site 
Note 2: Includes £241k appropriation cost for Bartram Close

P
age 42



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix D - GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

133. As at Month 10 an under spend of £23,560k is reported on the 2019/20 General Fund Capital 
Programme of £85,934k, due mainly to re-phasing of project expenditure into future years.  The 
forecast outturn variance over the life of the 2019/20 to 2023/24 programme is an over spend 
of £313k. 

134. General Fund Capital Receipts of £5,984k are forecast for 2019/20, with a surplus of £533k in 
total forecast receipts to 2023/24.   

135. Overall, Prudential Borrowing required to support the 2019/20 to 2023/24 capital programmes 
is forecast to be within budget by £1,103k.  This is due to a net surplus of £283k on other 
sources of funding (capital receipts and CIL) and an increase in grants and contributions 
applied of £507k, and net cost under spends of £313k.

Capital Programme Overview

136. Table 19 below sets out the latest forecast outturn on General Fund capital projects, with 
project level detail contained in Annexes A-D to this report. Forecast for future years include 
capital projects and programmes of work approved by Cabinet and Council in February 2019.

Table 19: General Fund Capital Programme Summary

Total Project 
Budget 2019-

2024 
Total Project 

Forecast 
2019-2024 

Total Project  
Variance Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Schools Programme  52,607  52,717  110  110 

Self Financing Developments  79,490  79,490  -  - 

Main Programme  114,774  115,074  300  - 

Programme of Works  153,715  152,992 (723) (319) 

General Contingency  7,500  7,500  -  - 

Total Capital  Programme  408,086  407,773 (313) (209) 

Movement  759  550 (209) 

137. The revised budget has increased due mainly to schools’ contributions to the Devolved 
Formula Capital programme and an allocation of Section 106 monies to extend the Uxbridge 
Change of Heart project.

138. The Schools programme includes works on two primary schools expansions at Hillside and 
Warrender primary schools.  The new buildings are complete including external works.  A 
forecast over spend of £110k is reported on the primary schools expansions programme after 
agreeing the final accounts with the contractor.  The new building at Vyners Secondary School 
is complete with the re-modelling of the existing school finished in December.  Works at Ruislip 
High are in progress and expected to be complete in the summer of 2020.

139. SEND grant payments to three schools or educational establishments have been approved 
totalling £455k for the provision of extra places.  Other identified plans are in various stages of 
development and will be completed in future years.

Page 43



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

140. The Self-Financing development programme includes £50,000k prudential borrowing to 
finance the housing company Hillingdon First with construction work in progress at the 
residential development site in South Ruislip.  Construction works on other development sites 
are expected to commence in future years. The programme also includes two major mixed 
residential developments at the former Belmore Allotments and Yiewsley pool sites.  Architects 
have undertaken design work on the Yiewsley sites redevelopment, which includes residential 
housing and the provision of a new library and community centre.  A revised planning 
application has been approved for the mixed residential scheme at the former Belmore 
Allotments site and tenure options are under review.  Works are anticipated to commence on 
site in the final quarter of 2020, following completion of the tender process.

141. The future year budget includes £1,939k in respect of Woodside Surgery, as part of a wider 
residential housing project.  As noted in the December Cabinet budget report, it is expected 
that the surgery element of the project will no longer be required. 

142. The Main programme includes major schemes such as the re-provision of Hillingdon Outdoor 
Activity Centre, which is expected to re-commence next financial year following confirmation 
that HS2 is proceeding.  The planning application for the provision of a new leisure centre in 
Yiewsley and West Drayton is scheduled to go to planning committee in March.  Planning 
consent was obtained in January for the expansion of the Rural Activities Garden Centre.    
Remedial works at the Battle of Britain bunker will also commence next year with the initial 
package of protective works currently being tendered. 

143. Programmes of Works include £3,000k for the new libraries refurbishment programme that is 
underway.  Works at Ruislip Manor have been completed and Charville and Harefield libraries 
are scheduled to be completed by the end of February and March respectively.  Works at 
Yeading library will commence in March.  The Civic Centre programme reports an under spend 
of £350k and Property Works Programme £174k based on the forecast level of uncommitted 
funding this financial year, with future schemes able to be funded from 2020/21 budget.  An 
under spend of £25k is also forecast on the uncommitted element of the Road Safety budget. 

144. An under spend of £41k is reported on completed schemes within the Schools Conditions 
Building Programme, with a number of other schemes within this programme continuing into 
next financial year.  Works are in various stages of progress on numerous carriageway 
refurbishments within the Highways improvement programme, with further works now expected 
to proceed in the new financial year.  Refurbishment works at several bowls clubs are forecast 
to be completed in time for the summer bowling season. 

145. Within Corporate Technology and Innovation, the project to upgrade computer hardware and 
transition to Windows 10/Microsoft 365 commenced in January.  An under spend of £20k is 
reported on two completed projects.

146. There is a net under spend of £41k on completed schemes within the Environmental and 
Recreational Initiatives budget.  An under spend of £70k is reported on the PSRG/LPRG 
budget as this budget is largely uncommitted.

147. An under spend of at least £919k is forecast on the Disabled Facilities Grant adaptations 
budget based on the forecast level of commitments this financial year.  It is anticipated that the 
grant will be utilised for additional Social Care equipment capitalisation within the Better Care 
Fund.

148. There are £1,500k contingency funds per annum over the period 2019-24 available as and 
when risk issues emerge, and it is proposed to utilise £55k to enable the purchase of electronic 
point of sale tills across the Borough’s libraries.

Page 44



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Capital Financing - General Fund

149. Table 20 below outlines the latest financing projections for the capital programme, with a 
favourable medium term variance of £750k reported on Prudential Borrowing.

Table 20: General Fund Capital Programme Financing Summary
Revised 
Budget 
2019/20

£'000

Forecast 
2019/20

£'000
Variance

£'000

Total 
Financing 

Budget 
2019-2024

£'000

Total 
Financing 
Forecast 

2019-2024
£'000

Total  
Variance

£'000
Movement

Council 
Resource 
Requirement

 55,550  34,728 (20,822)  297,672  296,852 (820) (372) 

Financed By Prudential Borrowing

Self Financing  11,000  8,250 (2,750)  77,946  77,946  - 

Invest to Save 
projects  3,670  2,230 (1,440)  8,090  8,070 (20) (15) 

Service 
Delivery  28,082  14,014 (14,068)  139,035  137,952 (1,083) (338) 

Total 
Borrowing  42,752  24,494 (18,258)  225,071  223,968 (1,103) (353) 

Financed By Other Council Resources

Capital 
Receipts  8,298  5,984 (2,314)  47,101  47,634  533 (19) 

CIL 4,500 4,250 (250) 25,500 25,250 (250)

 Total Council 
Resources  55,550  34,728 (20,822)  297,672  296,852 (820) (372) 

Grants & 
Contributions  30,384  27,646 (2,738)  110,414  110,921  507  163 

Capital 
Programme  85,934  62,374 (23,560)  408,086  407,773 (313) (209) 

Movement  759 (5,037) (5,796)  759  550 (209) 

150. Forecast capital receipts in 2019/20 amount to £5,984k.  Two sales have been completed, with 
another site sold at auction in December, for which the deposit has been received and is 
expected to be completed in February.  Offers have also recently been accepted on two 
marketed residential properties. Two further former garage sites are planned to be auctioned 
in March.  The forecast also includes General Fund share of Right to Buy (RTB) sales of 
£1,980k based on a reduced forecast of 50 RTB sales this year.

151. As at the end of January, a total of £3,971k Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts (after 
administration fees) have been invoiced or received this financial year, a movement of £10k 
from last month.  Budgeted eligible activity exceeds the CIL forecast with spend on Highways 
investment, community assets through the Chrysalis Programme and other major community 
infrastructure such as schools meeting the criteria for application of CIL monies.

152. Forecast grants and contributions are £507k higher than the revised budget, due mainly to 
Capital Maintenance grant award being higher than original budget assumptions.  There are 
£7,500k assumed Basic Needs grant for the period 2021-24 in the financing budget that are 
not yet confirmed.  The movement in month is mainly due to £180k Section 106 contributions 
proposed to be allocated towards financing this year’s secondary schools expansions 
programme.

Page 45



Cabinet report: 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

153. Prudential borrowing in 2019/20 has reduced by £5,843k due mainly to reduced forecast 
expenditure this year on projects and programmes continuing into future years.

Page 46



ANNEX A - Schools Programme

Project Forecast Financed by:
 Prior 

Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget

 

2019/20 
Forecast

 

2019/20 
Cost 

Variance
 

Forecast 
Re-

phasing
 

Total 
Project 
Budget 
2019-
2024

 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2019-
2024

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2019-
2024

 

Council 
Resources

Government 
Grants

Other 
Cont'ns

£'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Education and Children 
Services     

137,159 
Former Primary School 
Expansions 10 10 0 0 10 10 0 10 0 0 

12,952 
New Primary Schools 
Expansions 2,889 3,047 110 48 3,592 3,702 110 1,360 2,144 198 

5,097 
Secondary Schools 
Expansions 12,292 12,292 0 0 40,688 40,688 0 21,437 19,251 0 

0 
Additional Temporary 
Classrooms 0 0 0 0 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 0 0 

0 Schools SRP 500 455 0 (45) 3,958 3,958 0 0 3,874 84 

45,742 
Secondary Schools 
Replacement 119 119 0 0 119 119 0 119 0 0 

0 Meadow School 240 0 0 (240) 240 240 0 240 0 0 
200,950 Total Schools Programme 16,050 15,923 110 (237) 52,607 52,717 110 27,166 25,269 282 

P
age 47



ANNEX B - Self Financing Developments

Project Forecast Financed by:
 Prior 

Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget

 

2019/20 
Forecast

 

2019/20 
Cost 

Variance
 

2019/20 
Forecast 

Re-
phasing

 

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2019-
2024

 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2019-
2024

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2019-
2024

 

Council 
Resources

Government 
Grants

Other 
Cont'ns

£'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Self Financing Developments          
68 Yiewsley Site Development 1,000 250 0 (750) 22,946 22,946 0 22,946 0 0 

0 Belmore Allotments Development 0 0 0 0 4,605 4,605 0 3,061 0 1,544 
0 Housing Company Financing 10,000 8,000 0 (2,000) 50,000 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 
0 Woodside GP Surgery 0 0 0 0 1,939 1,939 0 1,939 0 0 

         
68 Total Main Programme 11,000 8,250 0 (2,750) 79,490 79,490 0 77,946 0 1,544 

P
age 48



ANNEX C - Main Programme

Project Forecast Financed by:
 

Prior 
Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget 
£'000

 

2019/20 
Forecast 

£'000
 

2019/20 
Cost 

Variance 
£'000

 

2019/20 
Forecast 

Re-
phasing 

£'000
 

Total 
Project 
Budget 
2019-24 

£000
 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2019-24 

£000

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2019-24 

£000
 

Council 
Resources 

£000
Government 
Grants £000

Other 
Cont'ns 

£000

 Community, Commerce and Regeneration 
7,294 Hayes Town Centre Improvements 980 840 0 (140) 1,980 1,980 0 306 318 1,356 

542 Inspiring Shopfronts 145 145 0 0 353 353 0 282 0 71 
3,092 Gateway Hillingdon 58 358 300 0 58 358 300 358 0 0 
1,466 Uxbridge Change of Heart 622 530 0 (92) 622 622 0 530 0 92 

27 Uxbridge Cemetery Gatehouse 10 0 0 (10) 547 547 0 547 0 0 
0 New Museum 50 0 0 (50) 5,632 5,632 0 4,882 0 750 
0 New Theatre 0 0 0 0 44,000 44,000 0 42,950 0 1,050 

57 
Battle of Britain Underground 
Bunker 200 30 0 (170) 997 997 0 997 0 0 

0 
Botwell Leisure Centre Football 
Pitch 0 0 0 0 200 200 0 200 0 0 

0 Yiewsley and West Drayton Pool 900 600 0 (300) 32,000 32,000 0 31,512 0 488 
723 Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre 50 50 0 0 25,777 25,777 0 0 0 25,777 

23 RAGC Expansion 100 25 0 (75) 1,391 1,391 0 1,391 0 0 
2 1 & 2 Merrimans Housing Project 20 0 0 (20) 619 619 0 619 0 0 

10,879 Projects Completing in 2019/20: 559 399 0 (160) 598 598 0 598 0 0 
           
24,105 Total Main Programme 3,694 2,977 300 (1,017) 114,774 115,074 300 85,172 318 29,584 

P
age 49



ANNEX D - Programme of Works

Project Forecast Financed by:
 Prior 

Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget

 

2019/20 
Forecast

 

2019/20 
Cost 

Variance
 

Forecast 
Re-

phasing
 

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2019-
2024

 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2019-
2024

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2019-
2024

 

Council 
Resources

Government 
Grants

Other 
Cont'ns

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
N/A Leader's Initiative 329 192 0 (137) 1,129 1,129 0 1,129 0 0 
N/A Chrysalis Programme 1,124 1,124 0 0 5,124 5,124 0 5,124 0 0 
N/A Playground Replacement Programme 250 371 0 121 750 750 0 750 0 0 
N/A Libraries Refurbishment Programme 1,000 690 0 (310) 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 0 0 
N/A Leisure Centre Refurbishment 500 10 0 (490) 3,101 3,101 0 3,101 0 0 
N/A Devolved Capital to Schools 1,592 1,592 0 0 2,529 2,529 0 0 1,752 777 
N/A School Building Condition Works 4,358 1,290 (41) (3,027) 10,758 10,717 (41) 2,390 7,333 994 
N/A Civic Centre Works Programme 2,686 819 (350) (1,517) 5,428 5,078 (350) 5,078 0 0 
N/A Corporate Technology and Innovation 4,289 3,947 (20) (322) 8,645 8,625 (20) 8,625 0 0 
N/A Property Works Programme 1,805 1,327 (174) (304) 4,527 4,353 (174) 4,153 200 0 
N/A Car Park Pay & Display Machines 520 0 0 (520) 1,040 1,040 0 1,040 0 0 
N/A Highways Structural Works 11,537 6,057 0 (5,480) 43,537 43,537 0 41,263 0 2,274 
N/A Road Safety 189 164 (25) 0 789 764 (25) 764 0 0 
N/A Transport for London 4,697 2,706 0 (1,991) 18,589 18,589 0 0 17,843 746 
N/A HS2 Road Safety Fund 645 0 0 (645) 645 645 0 0 0 645 
N/A Disabled Facilities Grant 2,852 1,933 (919) 0 14,560 13,641 (919) 0 13,641 0 
N/A PSRG / LPRG 100 35 (65) 0 500 435 (65) 230 205 0 
N/A Equipment Capitalisation - Social Care 1,172 2,091 919 0 5,860 6,779 919 0 6,779 0 
N/A Equipment Capitalisation - General 921 550 0 (371) 3,721 3,721 0 3,721 0 0 
N/A Public Health England Alcohol Fund 70 70 0 0 70 70 0 0 70 0 
N/A Bowls Club Refurbishments 1,034 810 0 (224) 1,034 1,034 0 1,034 0 0 
N/A CCTV Programme 503 900 0 397 1,153 1,153 0 1,153 0 0 
N/A Youth Provision 1,425 238 0 (1,187) 1,425 1,425 0 1,425 0 0 
N/A Harlington Road Depot Improvements 439 49 0 (390) 639 639 0 639 0 0 
N/A Purchase of Vehicles 7,585 5,240 0 (2,345) 10,765 10,765 0 10,765 0 0 
N/A Street Lighting Replacement 547 547 0 0 2,876 2,876 0 2,876 0 0 
N/A Environmental/Recreational Initiatives 889 526 (41) (322) 889 848 (41) 808 40 0 
N/A Section 106 Projects 632 446 (7) (179) 632 625 (7) 0 0 625 

         
 Total Programme of Works 53,690 33,724 (723) (19,243) 153,715 152,992 (723) 99,068 47,863 6,061 

P
age 50



P
age 51



Appendix E – Treasury Management Report as at 31st January 2020

Table 21: Outstanding Deposits – Average Rate of Return 0.66%
 Period Actual (£m) Actual (%) Benchmark (%)
Call Accounts and MMF’s* 
Up to 1 Month Fixed-Term Deposits

24.7             
0.0

62.22                   
0.00 70.00

Over 1 Month Fixed-Term Deposits 0.0 0.00 0.00
Total 24.7 62.22 70.00
Strategic Pooled Funds 15.0 37.78 30.00
Total 39.7 100.00 100.00

*Money Market Funds

154. Deposits are held with UK institutions, all of which hold a minimum A- Fitch (or lowest equivalent) 
long-term credit rating and AAA rated Money Market funds. UK deposits are currently held in 
Lloyds Bank plc. There is also an allocation to Strategic Pooled Funds.

155. The average rate of return on day-to-day operational treasury balances is 0.66%. As part of the 
Council’s investment strategy for 19/20 the Council continues to hold a total of £15m in three 
long-dated strategic pooled funds (£5m in each). The strategic pooled funds have a 3-5 year 
investment horizon with dividends being distributed periodically.

156. The Council aims to minimise its exposure to bail-in risk by utilising bail-in exempt instruments 
and institutions whenever possible. However, with average balances being lower than historic 
levels, the majority of funds need to be held in instant access facilities to manage daily cashflow. 
It is therefore not possible to fully protect Council funds from bail-in risk. At the end of January, 
100% of the Council's day-to-day operational treasury investments had exposure to bail-in risk 
compared to a December benchmark average of 60% in the Local Authority sector (latest 
benchmark provided quarterly by the Council's treasury advisors Arlingclose). The Council's 
exposure reduces to 0% once instant access facilities are excluded from the total bail-in 
percentage. 

157. Liquidity was maintained throughout January by placing surplus funds in instant access 
accounts and making short-term deposits with the DMADF. Cash-flow was managed by 
ensuring deposit maturities with the DMADF were matched to outflows and where required, 
funds were withdrawn from instant access facilities.

Table 22: Outstanding Debt - Average Interest Rate on Debt: 3.23% 
Average Interest Rate on Temporary Borrowing: 0.84%

Actual 
(£m)

Actual (%)

General Fund

PWLB 48.57 18.20
Long-Term Market
Temporary

15.00
20.00

5.62
7.49

HRA 
PWLB 150.32 56.32
Long-Term Market 33.00 12.37
Total 266.89 100.00

Page 52



158. There were no scheduled debt repayments during January. Gilt yields moved down during the 
month. With the ongoing need to take further borrowing and with restrictive premiums, early 
repayment of debt remains unfeasible. 

159. There were no breaches of the Prudential Indicators or non-compliance with the Treasury 
Management Policy and Practices.  In order to maintain liquidity for day-to-day business 

operations during February, cash balances will be placed in instant access accounts and short-
term deposits. In addition, £30m of forward dated temporary borrowing was secured in January 
with settlement dates in February and March. This additional borrowing has ensured minimum 

cash levels are maintained throughout February. 

Page 53



Appendix F – Consultancy and agency assignments over £50k approved under delegated 
authority

161. The following Agency staff costing over £50k have been approved under delegated powers by 
the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and are reported here for information.

Table 31: Consultancy and agency assignments

Post Title Original 
Start Date

Approved 
From

Proposed 
End Date

Previous 
Approval 

£'000

Approved 

£'000

Total 

£'000

Chief Executive’s Office and Finance Directorate
Benefit Officer 03/08/2015 03/02/2020 03/05/2020 251 15 266
Benefit Officer 03/04/2017 02/03/2020 31/05/2020 138 12 150

Residents Services
CME Tracker 01/08/2018 01/03/2020 30/04/2020 79 9 88
Customer Service 
Advisor 03/04/2018 03/02/2020 03/05/2020 47 8 54

Private Sector Housing 
Officer 24/06/2019 10/02/2020 10/05/2020 47 24 71

Architect 06/05/2019 20/01/2020 19/04/2020 40 20 60
Programme Manager 
(Planned Works) 27/11/2017 24/02/2020 24/05/2020 184 22 206

Senior Environmental 
Health Officer 02/09/2019 10/02/2020 01/05/2020 37 22 59

Parking Operations 
Manager 03/07/2017 10/02/2020 10/05/2020 168 22 190

Planning Enforcement 
Officers 15/04/2019 22/02/2020 21/06/2020 55 18 74

Major Applications 
(PPA) Planner 03/01/2017 17/02/2020 17/05/2020 227 22 249

Programme Manager, 
Capital Programme 
Work

14/08/2016 09/03/2020 07/06/2020 232 25 257

Social Care
Team Manager 17/07/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 273 8 281
Senior Social Worker 01/04/2013 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 223 6 229
Social Worker 06/04/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 138 6 144
Social Worker 23/10/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 165 5 170
Social Worker 16/12/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 250 6 256
Social Worker 21/08/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 252 6 258
Social Worker 10/07/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 181 6 187
Social Worker 07/11/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 261 6 267
Social Worker 04/05/2015 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 308 5 313
Social Worker 13/04/2015 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 346 6 352
Social Worker 11/07/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 273 6 279
Social Worker 01/08/2015 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 309 7 316
Social Worker 27/10/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 244 6 250
Social Worker 01/12/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 196 6 202
Educational 
Psychologist 04/02/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 157 11 168

Educational 
Psychologist 15/11/2015 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 350 8 358

Page 54



Post Title Original 
Start Date

Approved 
From

Proposed 
End Date

Previous 
Approval 

£'000

Approved 

£'000

Total 

£'000
Special Needs Officer 01/12/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 213 6 219
Social Worker 11/08/2014 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 443 6 449
Social Worker 01/01/2013 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 462 6 468
Social Worker 01/04/2013 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 258 6 264
Social Worker 26/08/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 242 6 248
Support Worker 20/12/2015 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 116 3 119
Social Worker 04/07/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 296 6 302
Social Worker 03/07/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 297 7 304
Social Worker 21/11/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 234 6 240
Social Worker 01/01/2013 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 459 6 465
Senior Social Worker 29/06/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 224 6 230
Education Health and 
Care Officer 01/07/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 138 5 143

Principal Educational 
Psychologist 01/08/2015 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 328 11 339

Senior Educational 
Psychologist 15/08/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 286 11 297

Educational 
Psychologist 01/03/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 355 12 367

Social Worker 02/07/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 175 6 181
Independent Domestic 
Violence Advocate 01/10/2018 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 73 4 77

Senior Social Worker 30/04/2012 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 264 6 270
Education Health and 
Care Officer 04/03/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 59 5 64

Senior Social Worker 21/11/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 78 7 85
Senior Social Worker 19/12/2011 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 83 7 90
Social Worker 01/04/2018 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 152 6 158
SEND Team Manager - 
Primary 29/07/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 60 8 68

Social Worker 01/04/2013 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 74 6 80
AMHP 04/02/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 69 6 75
Approved Mental Health 
Worker 05/02/2018 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 108 4 112

AMHP 04/02/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 83 6 89
Social Worker 29/04/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 50 6 56
AMHP 03/06/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 58 6 63
Senior Business Analyst 
(Liquid Logic 
Implementation)

01/07/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 58 7 64

Senior Business Analyst 
(Liquid Logic 
Implementation)

01/07/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 58 7 65

Project Manager/Senior 
Business Analyst 
(Liquid Logic 
Implementation)

01/07/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 61 7 68

Social Worker POA 01/07/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 52 6 58
AMHP 01/07/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 52 6 58
AMHP 04/11/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 42 10 52

Page 55



Post Title Original 
Start Date

Approved 
From

Proposed 
End Date

Previous 
Approval 

£'000

Approved 

£'000

Total 

£'000
Social Worker (CHC) 03/01/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 153 4 157
Senior Residential 
Worker 03/09/2018 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 67 3 71

Support Worker 03/04/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 101 3 103
Support Worker 03/10/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 81 2 82
Support Planner 03/09/2018 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 51 3 53
Care Worker 06/07/2016 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 105 2 107
Care Worker 06/03/2017 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 85 2 87
Nursery Practitioner 01/10/2017 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 78 2 80
SENDIASS Manager 29/04/2019 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 76 7 83
Early Years Practitioner 01/04/2018 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 52 2 54
Early Years Practitioner 06/02/2017 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 78 2 80
Early Years Practitioner 01/04/2018 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 51 2 53
Early Years Practitioner 01/04/2018 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 51 2 53
Early Years Practitioner 25/03/2016 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 86 2 88
Nursery Officer  05/09/2016 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 80 2 82
Early Years Practitioner 23/02/2015 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 111 2 114
Service Development & 
Quality Assurance 
Officer

01/04/2019 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 108 9 117

FIS Officer 01/04/2018 03/02/2020 01/03/2020 59 3 62
Online Services Co-
ordinator 04/03/2019 02/03/2020 29/03/2020 67 5 73

Page 56



Cabinet report – 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT

Cabinet Member Councillor Keith Burrows

Cabinet Portfolio Planning and Transportation

Officer Contact Nicola Wyatt - Residents Services

Papers with report Appendix 1 – circulated separately in A3

HEADLINES

Summary This report provides financial information on s106 and s278 
agreements up to 31st December 2019 against respective portfolio 
areas. 

Putting our 
Residents First

This report supports the following Council objective of: 
Our Built Environment; Our Heritage and Civic Pride; Financial 
Management

Planning obligations are an established delivery mechanism for 
mitigating the effect of development, making it acceptable in 
planning terms and achieving the aims of the Community Strategy 
and other strategic documents that make up the Local 
Development Framework.

Financial Cost As at 31 December 2019 the Council holds £16,009k relating to 
s106 and s278 agreements. 

Of this £5,648k is allocated/earmarked for projects and £3,788k 
relates to funds that the Council holds but is currently unable to 
spend directly, leaving a residual balance of funds that the Council 
holds of £6,498k that is currently spendable and not yet allocated 
towards specific projects and £75k interest on interest bearing 
schemes. In Quarter 3, the Council has received additional income 
of £1,504k and spent £294k. 

Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee

Residents, Education and Environmental Services

Ward(s) affected All

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



Cabinet report – 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Cabinet notes the updated financial information attached at Appendix 1

Reasons for recommendation

Planning best practice guidance encourages local planning authorities to consider how they can 
inform members and the public of progress in the allocation, provision and implementation of 
obligations whether they are provided by the developer in kind or through a financial 
contribution. This report details the financial planning obligations held by the Council and what 
progress has and is being made in allocating and spending those funds.

Alternative options considered / risk management

The alternative is to not report to Cabinet. However, it is an obvious example of good practice to 
monitor income and expenditure against specific planning agreements and ensure that 
expenditure takes place in accordance with the parameters of those agreements. 

Policy Overview Committee comments

None at this stage.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1. Appendix 1 provides a schedule of all agreements on which the Council holds funds. The 
agreements are listed under Cabinet portfolio headings.  The appendix shows the 
movement of income and expenditure taking place during the financial year; including 
information at 30 Sept 2019 as well as up to 31 December 2019. Text that is highlighted in 
bold indicates key changes since the Cabinet report of 24 October 2019.  Figures indicated 
in bold under the column headed ‘Total income as at 30/12/19’ indicate new income 
received and shaded cells indicate where funds are held in an interest bearing account. The 
table shows expenditure between 1 October and 31 December 2019 of £294k (compared to 
£37k during the previous quarter) and income of £1,504k (compared to £37k during the 
previous quarter) within the same period. 

2. The balance of s278/106 funds that the Council held at 31 December 2019 is £16,009k.  It 
should be noted that the ‘balance of funds’ listed, i.e. the difference between income 
received and expenditure, is not a surplus. Included in the balance at 31 December 2019 
are those s278/106 funds that the Council holds but is unable to spend for a number of 
reasons, such as cases where the funds are held as a returnable security deposit for works 
to be undertaken by the developer and those where the expenditure is dependant on other 
bodies such as transport operators.  The column labelled “balance spendable not allocated” 
shows the residual balance of funds after taking into account funds that the Council is 
unable to spend and those that it has allocated to projects. The ‘balance of funds’ at 31 
December 2019 also includes funds that relate to projects that are already underway or 
programmed, but where costs have not been drawn down against the relevant s106 (or 
s.278) cost centre.

Page 58



Cabinet report – 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

3. In summary, of the ‘total balance of funds’ that the Council held at 31 December 2019 
(£16,009k) £3,788k relates to funds that the Council is unable to spend and £5,648k is 
allocated/earmarked for projects, leaving a residual balance of funds that the Council holds 
of £6,488k that is currently spendable and not yet earmarked/allocated towards specific 
projects and £75k that relates to interest on the interest bearing schemes.

Financial Implications

4.  As at 31st December 2019, the s106/278 balance is £16,009k. This is inclusive of £3,788k 
which the Council holds on behalf of its partners who are responsible for project delivery e.g. 
NHS Property Services (formerly PCT) and TFL. A further £5,648k has been earmarked to 
specific projects. The residual balance of £6,498k represents amounts yet to be allocated for 
any specific use although projects are being put in place to utilise this balance and £75k relates 
to interest on the interest bearing schemes. As and when a specific interest bearing Section 106 
balance is required to be returned to a developer the amount of cumulative interest since the 
balance was received is transferred to the scheme from the total balance of accumulated 
interest on interest bearing schemes and then repaid to the developer.

Table 1 – S106/278 contributions by service area

Service Area

Balance
b/f

(01/10/19)
Income 
Received

Total Spend 
Balance 

c/f 
(31/12/19)

Earmarked 
Balances

Balance 
Spendable 

not 
allocated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
S278
Planning & 
Transportation 1,873 12 1,885 (7) 1,878 1,878 0

S106
Planning & 
Transportation 4,410 40 4,450 (165) 4,285 2,978 1,307

Central Services, 
Culture & Heritage 155 23 178 (0) 178 111 67

Community, Commerce 
& Regeneration 2,555 3 2,558 (68) 2,490 1,249 1,241

Education & Children 
Services 180 1,426 1,606 (0) 1,606 1,426 180

Environment 2,443 0 2,443 (54) 2,389 549 1,840

Housing, Social 
Services & Health 3,108 0 3,108 (0) 3,108 1,245 1,863

Interest on interest 
bearing schemes 75 0 75 (0) 75 75 0

Sub-Total (S278/106) 14,799 1,504 16,303 (294) 16,009 9,511 6,498

Less: Sums held on 
behalf of partners 3,788 0 3,788 (0) 3,788 3,788 0

Total LBH Balances 11,011 1,504 12,515 (294) 12,221 5,723 6,498

Page 59



Cabinet report – 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

5. Table 1 provides additional detail of the s106/278 contributions in accordance to service 
area. In quarter 3 additional income received in s106/278 monies was £1,504k, whilst 
expenditure totalling £294k was financed by the contributions.

6. The unallocated balance of £6,498k represents amounts yet to be formally allocated for 
specific projects, and this has decreased by £139k from the previous quarter due to 
contributions received that have been allocated to specific schemes.  Proposals are in various 
stages of development to utilise the unallocated balances. These are generally required to be 
spent towards the following areas and within the specific terms identified in the individual 
agreements:

Table 2 - S106 unallocated balances breakdown 

Category £’000
Affordable Housing 1,863
Air Quality 564
Carbon Reduction 399
Community Facility 600
Economic Development 231
Libraries 21
Nature Conservation 560
Public Realm / Town Centres 535
Schools 180
TFL / Highways 610
Training Schemes 935
Total 6,498

7. From the above formally unallocated balances, those relating to affordable housing can 
potentially be utilised towards the planned residential development at the former Belmore 
Allotments site and other housing developments. Other balances are expected to be used 
towards the TFL LIP programme, town centre initiatives and schools expansion programme.

8. Officers will continue to review the applicability of unallocated balances within existing 
and proposed capital and revenue budgets in order to minimise the impact on the council’s 
internal resources.

9. Contributions that are not spent within the designated period may need to be returned to 
the developer. As at end of December 2019 it has been identified, that £108k needs to be spent 
within twelve months, i.e. 31st December 2020.

CORPORATE CONSIDERATIONS

Corporate Finance

Corporate Finance has reviewed this report, noting that schemes have not yet been identified to 
utilise £6,498k of Section 106 / 278 Contributions received from developers to support 

Page 60



Cabinet report – 12 March 2020
Classification: Part 1 – Public

investment in local infrastructure. As outlined in the financial implications above, proposals are 
in various stages of development to utilise these balances and officers will continue to review 
the applicability of these unallocated balances to ensure that where appropriate these are 
deployed to support existing or planned expenditure.

Legal

There are no specific legal implications arising from the recommendation which asks the 
Cabinet to note the current status on the receipt and expenditure of S106 monies. The monies 
referred to in this report are held by the Council for the purposes specified in each of the 
relevant legal agreements. Such monies should only be spent in accordance with the terms of 
those agreements.  Where monies are not spent within the time limits prescribed in those 
agreements, such monies and interest accrued should be returned to the payee. Where officers 
are unsure whether monies held pursuant to particular agreements can be used for particular 
purposes, Legal Services should be consulted for advice on a case by case basis.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

District Auditor’s “The Management of Planning Obligations” Action Plan May 1999
Monitoring Officers Report January 2001
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document Adopted July 2008 and revised 2014
Planning Obligations Quarterly Financial Monitoring Report to Cabinet October 2019

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 7STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 8STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

Agenda Item 9STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Agenda Item 10STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 103

Agenda Item 11STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

Agenda Item 12STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting
	5 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report: Month 10 (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	6 Quarterly Planning Obligations Monitoring Report (Cllr Keith Burrows)
	7 Contract Award: CCTV Service, Maintenance, Repair & Upgrades (Cllr Douglas Mills)
	8 Contract Award: Servicing, Gas Safety Checks and Maintenance of the Council's Domestic 'in-dwelling' Housing Properties (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	9 Contract Award: Homecare, Outreach, Extra Care and Specialist Support Services for Adults (Cllr Jane Palmer)
	10 Contract Award: Semi Independent Living Services for Young People (Cllr Susan O'Brien)
	11 Contract extension: Community Equipment Service for Residents (Cllr Jane Palmer )
	12 Property Transactions: Disposal of Garage Sites adjacent to 1 Evelyns Close, Yiewsley and Rear of Vernon Drive, Harefield (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)

